Freshwater megafauna shape ecosystems and facilitate restoration

Fengzhi He^{1,2,3,4,*}, Jens-Christian Svenning⁴, Xing Chen^{2,5}, Klement Tockner^{6,7}, Tobias Kuemmerle³, Elizabeth le Roux⁴, Marcos Moleón⁸, Jörn Gessner² and Sonja C. Jähnig^{2,3}

¹Key Laboratory of Wetland Ecology and Environment, State Key Laboratory of Black Soils Conservation and Utilization, Northeast Institute of

Geography and Agroecology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shengbei Street 4888, Changchun 130102, China

²Leibniz Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Müggelseedamm 310, Berlin 12587, Germany

³Geography Department, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Unter den Linden 6, Berlin 10099, Germany

⁴Center for Ecological Dynamics in a Novel Biosphere (ECONOVO) and Center for Biodiversity Dynamics in a Changing World (BIOCHANGE),

Department of Biology, Aarhus University, Ny Munkegade 114, Aarhus 8000, Denmark

⁵Institute of Biology, Freie Universität Berlin, Königin-Luise-Str. 1-3, Berlin 14195, Germany

⁶Senckenberg Society for Nature Research, Senckenberganlage 25, Frankfurt am Main 60325, Germany

⁷Faculty for Biological Sciences, Goethe University Frankfurt, Max-von-Laue-Straße 9, Frankfurt am Main 60438, Germany

⁸Department of Zoology, University of Granada, Avenida de Fuente Nueva S/N, Granada 18071, Spain

ABSTRACT

Freshwater megafauna, such as sturgeons, giant catfishes, river dolphins, hippopotami, crocodylians, large turtles, and giant salamanders, have experienced severe population declines and range contractions worldwide. Although there is an increasing number of studies investigating the causes of megafauna losses in fresh waters, little attention has been paid to synthesising the impacts of megafauna on the abiotic environment and other organisms in freshwater ecosystems, and hence the consequences of losing these species. This limited understanding may impede the development of policies and actions for their conservation and restoration. In this review, we synthesise how megafauna shape ecological processes in freshwater ecosystems and discuss their potential for enhancing ecosystem restoration. Through activities such as movement, burrowing, and dam and nest building, megafauna have a profound influence on the extent of water bodies, flow dynamics, and the physical structure of shorelines and substrata, increasing habitat heterogeneity. They enhance nutrient cycling within fresh waters, and cross-ecosystem flows of material, through foraging and reproduction activities. Freshwater megafauna are highly connected to other freshwater organisms via direct consumption of species at different trophic levels, indirect trophic cascades, and through their influence on habitat structure. The literature documenting the ecological impacts of freshwater megafauna is not evenly distributed among species, regions, and types of ecological impacts, with a lack of quantitative evidence for large fish, crocodylians, and turtles in the Global South and their impacts on nutrient flows and food-web structure. In addition, population decline, range contraction, and the loss of large individuals have reduced the extent and magnitude of megafaunal impacts in freshwater ecosystems, rendering a posteriori evaluation more difficult. We propose that reinstating freshwater megafauna populations holds the potential for restoring key ecological processes such as disturbances, trophic cascades, and species dispersal, which will, in turn, promote overall biodiversity and enhance nature's contributions to people. Challenges for restoration actions include the shifting baseline syndrome, potential human-megafauna competition for habitats and resources, damage to property, and risk to human life. The current lack of historical baselines for natural distributions and population sizes of freshwater megafauna, their life history, trophic interactions with other freshwater species, and interactions with humans necessitates further investigation. Addressing these knowledge gaps will improve our understanding of the ecological roles of freshwater megafauna and support their full potential for facilitating the development of effective conservation and restoration strategies to achieve the coexistence of humans and megafauna.

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel.: +86 (0) 431 85542256; E-mail: hefengzhi@iga.ac.cn).

Biological Reviews 99 (2024) 1141–1163 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

Key words: body size, conservation, ecosystem function, dispersal, keystone species, large animal, nature's contributions to people, reintroduction, top predator, trophic complexity.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	1142
II.	Freshwater megafauna: definition and distribution	1143
III.	Influence on the freshwater environment	1143
	(1) Hydromorphology	1143
	(2) Biogeochemical cycling	1147
IV.	Interactions with other freshwater species	1148
	(1) Aquatic plants and algae	1148
	(2) Invertebrates	1149
	(3) Vertebrates	1150
V.	Impact of losing megafauna	1151
VI.	Relevance for ecosystem restoration	1152
	(1) Potential for restoring ecological processes	1152
	(2) Potential for enhancing nature's contributions to people	1154
	(3) Challenges for restoration	1154
VII.	Future investigations	1155
	(1) Historical baselines	1156
	(2) Life history of freshwater megafauna	1156
	(3) Trophic interactions	1156
	(4) Human–megafauna interactions	1156
VIII.	Conclusions	1157
IX.	Acknowledgements	1157
Х.	References	1158
XI.	Supporting information	1163

I. INTRODUCTION

Megafauna were once highly diverse and abundant on Earth (Estes *et al.*, 2016; He *et al.*, 2019; Malhi *et al.*, 2016). However, many megafauna species have become extinct due to overhunting and habitat loss (Stuart, 2015). For example, in the Late Pleistocene, there were at least 50 mammalian megaherbivores on land with a body mass of over 1000 kg (Malhi *et al.*, 2016). Only 10 of these still remain (i.e. giraffe, hippopotamus, elephants, and rhinoceroses), with strongly reduced distributions and population density (Faurby & Svenning, 2015; Owen-Smith, 1988). As a result, the biosphere has undergone major trophic downgrading (Dirzo *et al.*, 2014; Estes *et al.*, 2011).

Compared to the massive megafauna extinction in terrestrial ecosystems in the Late Pleistocene and Early Holocene, megafauna in aquatic systems were probably less affected until a few hundred years ago, when intensive commercial harvesting and large-scale habitat modification began to alter marine and freshwater ecosystems in major ways (Estes *et al.*, 2016; He *et al.*, 2018). Intensive exploitation has contributed to the extinctions of several marine megafauna species (Estes *et al.*, 2016; IUCN, 2022), including the Caribbean monk seal (*Neomonachus tropicalis*), Japanese sea lion (*Zalophus japonicas*), and Steller's sea cow (*Hydrodamalis gigas*). Similarly, in freshwater ecosystems overexploitation and habitat destruction (e.g. dam construction, wetland conversion) has contributed to the extinction of Baiji (*Lipotes vexillifer*), Schomburgk's deer (*Rucervus schomburgki*), and Chinese paddlefish (*Psephurus gladius*) in the 20th and 21st century (Turvey et al., 2010b; Zhang et al., 2020). Sharp population declines of various freshwater megafauna have been documented across the world (He et al., 2019; Winemiller, Humphries & Pusey, 2015), highlighting that trophic downgrading is ongoing and freshwater ecosystems are not being spared.

While the decline of megafauna and its causes are well documented (Barnosky et al., 2004; Ripple et al., 2019), less scientific attention has been paid to their ecological roles and consequences of their decline (Malhi et al., 2016; Estes et al., 2016; Hammerschlag et al., 2019). By virtue of their size, megafauna can modify the physical structure of the ecosystems they inhabit (Naiman & Rogers, 1997; Malhi et al., 2016; Larsen, Larsen & Lane, 2021; Owen-Smith, 1988). For example, elephants break trees and create open space in forests, transforming forests into grasslands (Owen-Smith, 1988). Beavers fell trees and build dams, creating complex mosaics of streams, wetlands, and glades (Larsen et al., 2021). Big cats, bears, otters, crocodylians, dolphins, and large sharks are apex predators and influence local and regional trophic dynamics from the top of the food web (Hammerschlag et al., 2019; Ripple et al., 2014). Megafauna are often especially mobile and typically move between habitats while consuming large amounts of resources, thus functioning as important links among ecosystems and contributing to flows of nutrients and energy (Bakker *et al.*, 2016; Doughty *et al.*, 2016; Subalusky *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, megafauna profoundly shape ecological processes such as biogeochemical cycles, carbon sequestration, wildfire regimes, and disease transmission, and where megafauna are lost or their populations are severely reduced, major ecological change can be expected (Estes *et al.*, 2011; Doughty *et al.*, 2016; Malhi *et al.*, 2022; Doughty *et al.*, 2020).

Several reviews have emphasised the influence of megafauna on the structure and functioning of ecosystems (Malhi et al., 2016; Estes et al., 2016; Bakker et al., 2016; Hammerschlag et al., 2019). These reviews have mainly focused on megafauna in terrestrial (e.g. Malhi et al., 2016) or marine (e.g. Estes et al., 2016) ecosystems. The few studies that have considered freshwater megafauna included them as examples of large herbivores (Bakker et al., 2016) or apex predators (Hammerschlag et al., 2019) in aquatic ecosystems. Overall, the ecological impacts of megafauna in fresh waters remain largely unexplored, which is problematic considering that restoring megafauna could be a powerful tool for restoring ecological functions and supporting resilient and selfsustaining ecosystems (Lorimer et al., 2015; Svenning et al., 2016). The restoration of freshwater systems should be a priority for several reasons. Freshwater ecosystems provide essential contributions to human well-being, such as water and food supplies, flood regulation, and carbon sequestration (Lynch et al., 2023). Fresh waters are disproportionately affected by multiple and often intense anthropogenic threats, have experienced severe biodiversity decline and (He et al., 2019; Carrizo et al., 2017). Despite the implementation of restoration efforts in many regions (e.g. Europe), recovery trends have come to a halt and ecological conditions in fresh waters remain poor (Haase et al., 2023). Moreover, freshwater ecosystems are often underrepresented in conservation and restoration actions, receiving insufficient protection to safeguard their biodiversity and to meet the targets of the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (Carrizo et al., 2017; Flitcroft et al., 2023; He et al., 2021a; Mammola *et al.*, 2020).

In addition to their underappreciated ecological significance, freshwater megafauna have also received less conservation effort compared to their counterparts in terrestrial and marine ecosystems (He *et al.*, 2021*a*). Freshwater megafauna are not less threatened than marine and terrestrial species; the bias most likely reflects the overall underrepresentation of fresh waters in conservation science and practice (Carrizo *et al.*, 2017; He *et al.*, 2021*a*; Mammola *et al.*, 2020). Indeed, 57% of all assessed freshwater megafauna are evaluated as Vulnerable, Endangered, or Critically Endangered in the International Union for Conservation of Nature *Red List of Threatened Species* (hereinafter referred to as IUCN *Red List*; IUCN, 2022). Declines in their population abundance, distributional range, and functional diversity have been documented or projected (Griffith *et al.*, 2023; He *et al.*, 2019). Thus, bold conservation and restoration actions are needed to halt their decline and support their recovery. Freshwater megafauna can serve as flagship and umbrella species, and hence conservation and restoration actions that target them are likely to benefit a broad range of freshwater species (Carrizo *et al.*, 2017; Campos-Silva *et al.*, 2018; Kalinkat *et al.*, 2017).

Herein, we provide a global synthesis of the ecological roles of freshwater megafauna (e.g. sturgeons, catfishes, river dolphins, beavers, otters, crocodylians, and turtles), covering different ecosystems (e.g. rivers, lakes, wetlands), to guide conservation actions towards these large animals. We demonstrate how megafauna shape the structure and functioning of freshwater ecosystems, with an emphasis on their impacts on hydromorphology, biogeochemical cycling, and other freshwater species (Fig. 1). We conclude with a forward-looking perspective on the opportunities that megafauna-based restoration actions may offer for conserving freshwater biodiversity and for restoring ecosystem functions and nature's contributions to people (NCP).

II. FRESHWATER MEGAFAUNA: DEFINITION AND DISTRIBUTION

The term megafauna has been widely used in ecology, conservation, and palaeontology (Moleón et al., 2020). It has been used to refer to distinct groups of species, from marine benthic invertebrates (>ca. 1 cm) to large vertebrates with a threshold body mass ranging from 10 to 1000 kg (Moleón et al., 2020). Here, we use a threshold of 30 kg (maximum reported body mass) to define freshwater megafauna, which includes large freshwater animals that may act as flagship or umbrella species for freshwater conservation (Carrizo et al., 2017; He et al., 2017). Using this 30-kg threshold, we identify a diverse group of freshwater megafauna, including 134 fishes, 47 reptiles, 33 mammals, and two amphibians (see examples in Fig. 2 and full species list in Table S1 in the online Supporting Information). We only included large animals that fully live in fresh waters (e.g. fish, river dolphins, manatees, giant salamanders) or use rivers, lakes, and wetlands as their main habitats for feeding or resting in their entire life cycle or part of it (e.g. crocodylians, turtles, hippopotamus, beavers, and tapirs). Freshwater megafauna occur in most of the world's main hydrological basins (Fig. 3), with the Amazon Basin harbouring the highest freshwater megafauna diversity (38 species), followed by the Orinoco (25), Congo (23), Mekong (22), Ganges-Brahmaputra (22), and Mississippi (21) basins.

III. INFLUENCE ON THE FRESHWATER ENVIRONMENT

(1) Hydromorphology

Megafauna play a crucial role in creating and maintaining freshwater habitats. Their physical power enables some



Fig. 1. Impacts of megafauna on hydromorphology, biogeochemical cycling, and other species in freshwater ecosystems.

megafauna to increase the extent of water bodies and the volume of water storage. The Eurasian beaver (*Castor fiber*) and the North American beaver (*C. canadensis*), which occur in various freshwater habitats, are prominent examples. They build dams that raise water levels and transform

riparian zones and surrounding land into open-water areas and wetlands. The surface area of open water can increase by more than an order of magnitude compared to conditions prior to beaver modification (Jones *et al.*, 2020; Puttock *et al.*, 2017). Beavers also excavate canals to increase access



Fig. 2. Examples of freshwater megafauna: (A) a fish, arapaima (Arapaima gigas; photograph: Jeff Kubina); (B) a mammal, Yangtze finless porpoise (Neophocaena asiaeorientalis asiaeorientalis; photograph: Huigong Yu); (C) an amphibian, Chinese giant salamander (Andrias davidianus, photograph: Theodore Papenfuss); and (D) a reptile, Cuban Crocodile (Crocodylus rhombifer; photograph: Mark Fox). See Appendix S1 for image sources.



Fig. 3. Number of extant freshwater megafauna species within main river basins. Regions in grey are not inhabited by extant freshwater megafauna.

to new resources (e.g. food and building materials) and facilitate the transport of logs and branches. The length of these canals varies, with some of them exceeding 100 m (Grudzinski, Cummins & Vang, 2020). In some cases, these canals reach high densities and form a beaver-modified dendritic network. For example, over 1700 beaver canals, with a

total length of \sim 40 km, were observed at the Miquelon Lake Provincial Park (Alberta, Canada), covering an area of 13 km² and increasing the wetland perimeter to five times its original length (Hood & Larson, 2015).

Other semi-aquatic megafauna, such as hippopotamus (Hippopotamus amphibius) and crocodylians, also create channels. Hippopotami live mainly in herds and often use the same paths (Naiman & Rogers, 1997). These paths may develop into new water channels due to flooding and repeated trampling (McCarthy, Ellery & Bloem, 1998; Voysey, de Bruvn & Davies, 2023). Hippopotami also increase the size of freshwater habitats through wallowing (Naiman & Rogers, 1997). Similar to hippopotamus, pygmy hippopotamus (Choeropsis liberiensis), wild water buffalos (Bubalus arnee), tapirs (Tapirus spp.), and crocodylians also wallow in river pools or puddles to cool themselves or to protect their skin from dehvdration and insects (Magnusson & Taylor, 1982; Naiman & Rogers, 1997). Wallowing can increase the area and depth of natural puddles and pools over a long period. For instance, the holes created and maintained by American alligators (Alligator mississippiensis) in the Everglades can reach 15 m in diameter and 1 m in depth (Campbell & Mazzotti, 2004). These habitats created and maintained by large herbivores and predators are important for small aquatic and semi-aquatic species, particularly during dry seasons (Larsen et al., 2021; Strickland et al., 2023; Voysey et al., 2023).

Beavers and hippopotami are also among the few species reported to alter flow dynamics. The impacts of beaver dams on the flow regime have been widely documented (Larsen et al., 2021; Grudzinski et al., 2022). During high-flow conditions, beaver dams and associated ponds form backwater channels, reducing flow velocities and flood peaks downstream of dams (Puttock et al., 2021; Brazier et al., 2021). During extreme flood events, dam breach or failure can occur, leading to severe downstream flooding (Westbrook, Ronnquist & Bedard-Haughn, 2020). In the dry season, the impact of beaver dams on stream flow in downstream reaches also varies among sites. Beaver dams may reduce discharge and flow velocity in downstream areas due to water storage and increased evaporation in beaver ponds, and increased hyporheic flow below dams (Grudzinski et al., 2022; Meentemeyer & Butler, 1999). Conversely, the discharge below beaver dams can increase compared to conditions without beavers. Ponds and wetted areas associated with beaver dams often attenuate water and increase groundwater levels during the wet season (Majerova et al., 2015; Hill & Duval, 2009). The stored water is released to downstream sections during the dry season, increasing the stream flow below dams.

Canals created by beavers and hippopotami also modify flow dynamics. For example, canals excavated by beavers may connect isolated aquatic habitats. Water is diverted from other streams to beaver ponds and canals to maintain the water level (Grudzinski *et al.*, 2020). In floodplains, hippo trails form direct water pathways that connect the main channel and distal reaches (Ellery *et al.*, 2003; Naiman & Rogers, 1997). Repeated trampling by hippopotami deepens the trails and removes aquatic vegetation, reducing roughness and enabling efficient water movement (McCarthy *et al.*, 1998). Some trails even develop into new river channels (McCarthy *et al.*, 1998). These trails created and maintained by hippopotami may considerably influence water dispersal and local flow dynamics in floodplains (Ellery *et al.*, 2003; Mosepele *et al.*, 2009).

Many freshwater megafauna depend on both aquatic and terrestrial habitats. Their activities at the land-water interface often modify the structure of stream banks, shorelines of lakes and ponds, and riparian areas (Fig. 4). For example, hippopotami break the riverbanks when moving between foraging grounds on land and resting places in water (Naiman & Rogers, 1997). Beavers and otters excavate dens into stream banks as shelters for resting and raising their offspring (Buech, Rugg & Miller, 1989; Carter & Rosas, 1997). Burrowing activities of beavers and otters and their movement between land and water increase bank erosion. Meentemeyer et al. (1998) reported that beaver activities caused sediment erosion of $\sim 22 \text{ m}^3$ from an 817-m-long stream bank over 5 years. Crocodylians excavate holes, burrows, and tunnels as refuges during the dry season or winter and as shelters to avoid predation (Somaweera et al., 2020). The Chinese alligator (Alligator sinensis), for example, digs tunnels with complex structures including branches and enlarged chambers at the edge of ponds and swamps as hibernation shelters during cold winters (Thorbjarnarson & Wang, 2010). Besides excavating holes and tunnels as shelters, crocodylians and turtles also dig nests in areas close to water (Somaweera et al., 2020; Moll & Moll, 2004). Depending on the local environment and abundance of crocodylians and turtles, nest density can reach high levels, strongly modifying riparian areas (Forero-Medina et al., 2021). For example, nearly 500 nests were dug by Arrau turtle (Podocnemis *expansa*) within an area of less than 2000 m² along the Crixás-Açu River in Brazil (Ferreira Júnior & Castro, 2006). These semi-aquatic species reached high densities before heavy human influence (Wenger, Subalusky & Freeman, 2019). Hence, their impacts on the physical structure of stream banks, lake shores, and riparian vegetation in natural conditions were likely to have been extensive. Indeed, the geomorphological and vegetation characteristics of rivers and associated floodplains and wetlands with megafauna are often more heterogeneous than those where megafauna have been extirpated (Naiman & Rogers, 1997; Naiman, Johnston & Kelley, 1988; McCarthy et al., 1998).

Sediment disturbance can be beneficial for freshwater ecosystems. Disturbance caused by animals can release nutrients, and create habitat heterogeneity which enhances biological diversity (Moore, 2006). Many megafauna species provide sediment-disturbing functionality to freshwater ecosystems, for example, hippopotami, tapirs, and wild water buffalos often wallow and plough through mud and sediment on the bottom of water bodies. When large semi-aquatic megafauna, such as marsh deer (*Blastocerus dichotomus*) and southern lechwe (*Kobus leche*), feed in floodplains and wetlands, their trampling imposes strong disturbances on the substratum. Although the two amphibian megafauna



Fig. 4. Examples of how freshwater megafauna influence riparian areas, including (A) a river bank broken by hippopotami (*Hippopotamus amphibius*) due to their repeated movement between feeding and resting sites (photograph: Celesté Maré), (B) multiple nest craters at a communal nesting site of gharial (*Gavialis gangeticus*) in lower Chambal River, India (photograph: Gharial Ecology Project), and (C) nesting activities of the Arrau turtle (*Podocnemis expansa*) in the beach of the Guaporé river, Brazil (photograph: Camila R. Ferrara). See Appendix S1 for image sources.

Chinese giant salamander (Andrias davidianus) and Japanese giant salamander (A. japonicus) do not tend to excavate nests from scratch, male giant salamanders modify existing dens by pushing sand and gravel out to create nest depressions (Luo et al., 2018; Terry et al., 2019). As the population density of giant salamanders can be quite high in suitable environments [e.g. 103 Japanese giant salamanders were observed in a river section of 1.2 km (Browne et al., 2014; Kawamichi & Ueda, 1998)], their disturbance of substrata, particularly during the spawning season, can be substantial. Similar behaviour has been documented for the eastern freshwater cod (Maccullochella ikei), where males remove loose sand and particles when cleaning nests in the riverbed (Butler & Rowland, 2009), and Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha), which create redds (a nest depression for incubating eggs) that can reach 50 cm in depth (Gallagher & Gallagher, 2005; Gottesfeld, Hassan & Tunnicliffe, 2008). While the influence of each individual of these species on a river is relatively small, their overall influence on substrata is likely strong, especially considering that these species were highly abundant prior to severe anthropogenic impacts (Humphries & Winemiller, 2009).

(2) Biogeochemical cycling

Freshwater ecosystems are linear or mosaic features embedded into the terrestrial landscape matrix and frequently connected to the ocean. Many megafauna are highly mobile, crossing ecosystem boundaries, thereby increasing the flow of biomass and nutrients from terrestrial and marine realms to fresh waters (Doughty et al., 2016; Moss, 2015). For example, terrestrial plants are an important dietary component of large semi-aquatic herbivores, including capybara (Hydrochoerus hydrochaeris), hippopotamus, pygmy hippopotamus, wild water buffalo, and beavers. Capybaras have daily ingestion rates of 1-3% of their body mass, which typically exceeds 35 kg for adults (Kiani et al., 2019), while an adult hippopotamus can consume 40 kg of grass per night (Grey & Harper, 2002). The grazing range of hippopotami expands to areas over 5 km away from rivers (Harrison, Kalindekafe & Banda, 2008). Hippopotami spend extensive periods of time resting in the water during the day and discharge faeces and urine in freshwater habitats. Subalusky et al. (2015) estimated that a hippopotamus, on average, defecates 8.7 kg of faeces per day into the Mara River, with a total daily flux of 36,200 kg of faeces from hippopotamus populations to the river, containing 3499 kg total carbon, 492 kg total nitrogen and 48 kg total phosphorus. They also transport ~ 400 kg of biogenic silicon to the river each day, representing roughly 32% of the biogenic Si flux (Schoelynck et al., 2019). Similarly, beavers not only consume terrestrial plants but also transport wood into fresh waters for dam building. Nummi et al. (2018) estimated that \sim 8000 kg of trees were removed each year by a beaver colony, with

almost 90% of these trees used for dams. Their activities thus markedly increase nutrient and woody biomass input to fresh waters (Larsen *et al.*, 2021).

Large semi-aquatic predators and omnivores also contribute to nutrient flows between terrestrial and freshwater ecosystems, mainly by consuming terrestrial animals and plants (Cucherousset et al., 2012; Subalusky et al., 2015). Anacondas (Eunectes spp.) ambush various terrestrial animals, including reptiles, birds, and mammals (Thomas & Allain, 2021). Terrestrial animals such as agoutis, opossums, monkeys, armadillos, rats, and porcupines were documented in the diet of smooth-fronted caiman (Paleosuchus trigonatus) (Magnusson, da Silva & Lima, 1987) and American crocodile (Crocodylus acutus) (Balaguera-Reina et al., 2018), while large herbivores, including wildebeest and zebra, fall prey to Nile crocodiles (Crocodylus niloticus) (Subalusky et al., 2017). Fruits, seeds, and leaves of terrestrial plants are widely reported to be consumed by large freshwater turtles such as the alligator snapping turtle (Macroclemys temminckii) and Arrau turtle (Cunha, Bernhard & Vogt, 2020; Sloan, Buhlmann & Lovich, 1996). Conversely, crocodylians, turtles, and their eggs, as well as salmonids and catfish, move nutrients counter current (from water to land) by becoming the prey of terrestrial predators (Somaweera et al., 2020; Eriksson et al., 2022). This lateral movement occurs counter to the directions of most passive modes of transport (e.g. water moving downslope to accumulate in water bodies). Currently, there is limited research quantifying nutrient transfer by freshwater megafauna (except for hippopotami and beavers) between land and fresh water (Somaweera et al., 2020). This lack of studies has impeded our understanding of cross-ecosystem interactions driven by megafauna.

Apart from receiving nutrients from land, fresh waters also receive subsidies from the ocean transported by freshwater megafauna (Rosenblatt & Heithaus, 2011; Gende et al., 2002; Naiman et al., 2002; Samways et al., 2015). Doughty *et al.* (2016) estimated that anadromous fish species, including large salmonids and sturgeons, moved 140 million kg of phosphorus each year prior to severe anthropogenic impacts (e.g. dam construction and overexploitation). Such subsidies not only happened in large rivers such as the Danube, Volga, Ural, and Yangtze but also in smaller streams connected to the ocean. Kohler et al. (2013) reported that, on average, juvenile Chinook salmon only export 22% of the nitrogen and 30% of the phosphorus that their parents imported from the ocean to streams in Idaho. In California, Chinook salmon imported eight times more phosphorus from the ocean to coastal streams than their juveniles exported back to the ocean (Moore et al., 2011). The nutrients transported by anadromous megafauna from the ocean to fresh waters may finally be transferred to riparian zones (Naiman et al., 2002). Indeed, there is evidence that nutrients transported by anadromous fish increase riparian productivity and biodiversity (Wagner & Reynolds, 2019).

Large catfishes, carps, and some sturgeons are potamodromous and move between different river sections or between lakes and rivers, contributing to the redistribution of nutrients between different freshwater habitats. Compared to anadromous fish, the influence of potamodromous fish on nutrient translocation has received less attention. However, potamodromous fish play a critical role in nutrient redistribution within freshwater ecosystems (Flecker et al., 2010). Large potamodromous catfishes such as dorado (Brachyplatystoma rousseauxii), gilded catfish (Zungaro zungaro), and redtail catfish (Phractocephalus hemiliopterus) feed in downstream river reaches and move upstream for spawning (Petrere *et al.*, 2004). The deposition of their eggs in upstream sections represents nutrient flows against gravity. A considerable portion of their eggs or hatched juveniles fall prey to resident predators, transferring nutrients to local assemblages and ecosystems. In addition, grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon *idella*), silver carp (*Hypophthalmichthys molitrix*), bighead carp (Hypophthalmichthys nobilis), and black carp (Mylopharyngodon *piceus*) feed in lakes and migrate to rivers for spawning (Ru & Liu, 2013), redistributing large amounts of nutrients between lakes and connected rivers.

Although river dolphins, manatees, and crocodylians generally do not conduct long-distance migration to complete their life cycles, they can still roam over large areas and, through this, contribute to the redistribution of nutrients within fresh waters. River dolphins and crocodylians capture migratory fish and increase the nutrient input to local systems (Flecker et al., 2010). River dolphins, manatees and some crocodylians have large habitat requirements and forage in multiple habitats that are distant from each other (Bakker et al., 2016; Keith-Diagne et al., 2021; Rosenblatt & Heithaus, 2011). By feeding in one location and discharging in another, freshwater megafauna boost nutrient exchange among habitats (Bakker et al., 2016; Boulêtreau et al., 2011). The feeding activities of megafauna also modify nutrient cycling within local systems. For example, herbivorous megafauna, such as manatees, marsh deer, lechwe, and grass carp, feed on aquatic plants and accelerate the decomposition of these plants (Bakker et al., 2016). Crocodylians and large turtles prey on benthic invertebrates such as aquatic insects, molluscs, and crustaceans (Moll & Moll, 2004; Magnusson et al., 1987; Somaweera et al., 2020), thereby translocating nutrients from benthic habitats to the water column via excrement and resuspension of sediments (Vanni, 2002).

IV. INTERACTIONS WITH OTHER FRESHWATER SPECIES

(1) Aquatic plants and algae

The interactions between megafauna and primary producers have multiple facets, including direct interactions through feeding and physical disturbances and indirect interactions through smaller consumers. Aquatic plants are an important part of the diets of large mammalian herbivores such as manatees, marsh deer, lechwe, sitatunga (*Tragelaphus spekii*) and water buffalo (Guterres-Pazin *et al.*, 2014; Shrestha *et al.*, 2020; Ndawula *et al.*, 2011; Tomas & Salis, 2000;

Franceschini et al., 2020). Their herbivory activities profoundly influence the composition and growth of aquatic vegetation. Manatees, for example, feed on over 30 plant species in both Africa and South America (Takoukam Kamla et al., 2021; Guterres-Pazin et al., 2014). The amount of aquatic plant biomass consumed daily by manatees ranges from 4 to 13% of their body mass, which may exceed 400 kg as adults (Best, 1981; Bengtson, 1983). Although aquatic plants are usually supplementary food to beavers, hippopotami, and capybaras, their feeding activities still cause considerable changes in community compositions of aquatic vegetation (Bakker et al., 2016). For example, the herbivory effects of beavers led to a reduction in dominant macrophytes and a threefold increase in aquatic plant richness over a 10-year period in east Scotland (Law, Jones & Willby, 2014). Large fish (e.g. grass carp and rohu, Labeo rohita) and turtles (e.g. Arrau turtle, common snapping turtle, Chelydra serpentine, and Asiatic softshell turtle, Amyda cartilaginea) also regularly consume aquatic plants (Mandal et al., 2010; Cunha et al., 2020; Jensen & Das, 2008; Aresco & Gunzburger, 2007). For example, the foraging activities of grass carp directly alter the abundance and composition of aquatic vegetation (Dibble & Kovalenko, 2009). Therefore, they have been widely used for aquatic weed control (Pipalova, 2006). Other large fishes, such as silver carp, giant barb (Catlocarpio siamensis), and Mekong giant catfish (Pangasianodon gigas) feed on algae (Poulsen et al., 2004; Medo et al., 2020). Indeed, planktivorous megafauna such as silver carp are used for algae control in lakes and reservoirs (Zhang, Xie & Huang, 2008).

In many cases, freshwater megafauna also influence primary producers indirectly through trophic cascades. For example, American paddlefish (Polyodon spathula), smallmouth buffalo (Ictiobus bubalus), and bighead carp feed on zooplankton, thereby reducing grazing pressures by zooplankton on certain phytoplankton. In addition, river dolphins, crocodylians, otters, and various large fish species (e.g. Arabaima spp., Brachyplatystoma spp., Esox spp., Maccullochella spp.) are top predators (Hammerschlag et al., 2019; Winemiller et al., 2015) and prev on fish that feed on algae and zooplankton. Hence, megafauna can interact with primary producers indirectly through other species and thereby influence phytoplankton abundance and composition. The influence of megafauna foraging activities on phytoplankton abundance is often complicated and not unidirectional, depending on the abundance of megafauna and the community composition of phytoplankton and zooplankton. For example, silver carp can lead to decreased total chlorophyll-a concentrations in the water column due to direct consumption of phytoplankton or to increased total chlorophyll-a levels by suppressing zooplankton and promoting small-sized phytoplankton species (Zhang et al., 2008; Shen et al., 2021).

Megafauna species also impact primary producers through their influence on physicochemical conditions in fresh waters. Freshwater habitats created or enlarged by megafauna activities, including wetlands, ponds, and canals created by beavers and crocodylians, provide a suitable environment for various aquatic plants (Brazier et al., 2021; Somaweera et al., 2020). Hippopotami, beavers, turtles, and large anadromous fish species transport nutrients from land or ocean to fresh waters (Doughty et al., 2016; Schoelynck et al., 2019), which is likely to boost the growth of algae, macrophytes, and riparian plants (Naiman et al., 1988; Hocking & Reynolds, 2011). In addition, foraging activities of benthivorous megafauna often release nutrients from sediments and benthic animals to water columns and enhance nutrient availability for phytoplankton (Vanni, 2002). Although megafaunal impacts on primary producers in freshwater ecosystems have been observed in various regions (Wood et al., 2017; Bakker et al., 2016), our knowledge of such interactions remains limited and the net effect unquantified, particularly of indirect interactions through smaller consumers.

(2) Invertebrates

The interactions between megafauna and invertebrates in fresh waters are similar to those with primary producers, including direct predation and indirect interactions through the food web. More freshwater megafauna, particularly megafish, consume invertebrates as a vital part of their diets compared to algae and aquatic plants. Despite the large size of freshwater megafauna in their adult stage, most of them prey on invertebrates during at least one of their life-cycle stages. Most sturgeon species are primarily benthic feeders with molluscs, crustaceans, and insect larvae as food throughout their whole life (Billard & Lecointre, 2000) with only three species (Huso huso, H. dauricus, A. transmontanus) becoming exclusive predators after reaching a certain size. Other megafish species, including goonch (*Bagarius yarrelli*), Jullien's golden carp (Probarbus jullieni), Chinese high-fin banded shark (Myxocyprinus asiaticus), black carp, and common carp (Cyprinus *carpio*) also prey on benthic invertebrates both in their juvenile and adult stages (Roberts, 1983; Poulsen et al., 2004). In addition to benthic invertebrates, zooplankton is an important food resource for megafish species such as the American paddlefish, silver carp, and bighead carp (Billard & Lecointre, 2000; Zhang et al., 2008).

While piscivorous megafish primarily prey on other fish species during their adult stage (Winemiller *et al.*, 2015), they often depend on invertebrates during their juvenile stage. Benthic invertebrates and zooplankton have been widely observed in the diets of juvenile arapaima (*Arapaima gigas*) (Oliveira, Poleto & Venere, 2005), Murray cod (*Maccullochella peelii*) (Kaminskas & Humphries, 2009), Siberian taimen (*Hucho taimen*) (Matveyev *et al.*, 1998), and Nile perch (*Lates niloticus*) (Cornelissen *et al.*, 2018). Adult individuals of these top predators also consume invertebrates in addition to fish (Matveyev *et al.*, 1998).

Large turtles such as Leith's softshell turtle (*Nilssonia leithii*), Asian giant softshell turtle (*Pelochelys cantorii*), and common snapping turtle regularly prey on benthic invertebrates (Das *et al.*, 2014; Das, 2008; Punzo, 1975). Crabs, crayfish, and aquatic insects have been observed in the stomach of alligator

snapping turtles, Asiatic softshell turtles, and Indian narrowheaded softshell turtles (Chitra indica) (Elsey, 2006; Jensen & Das, 2008; Das & Singh, 2009). Although crocodylians are often categorised as apex predators and prey on large vertebrates, invertebrates represent a considerable proportion of the diets of many crocodylians (Somaweera et al., 2020). For example, invertebrates, including crustaceans, insects, and molluscs are the most common prey items for dwarf crocodile (Osteolaemus tetraspis) populations that live in forest streams (Shirley et al., 2017). Aquatic insects, crabs, shrimps, and molluscs are often consumed by American alligator, spectacled caiman (Caiman crocodilus), smooth-fronted caiman, and dwarf caiman (Paleosuchus palpebrosus) (Rosenblatt et al., 2015; Magnusson et al., 1987; Moldowan et al., 2016). Similar to crocodylians and large turtles, the two extant giant salamanders also consume invertebrates such as crabs and cravfish (Browne et al., 2014). Crabs comprise about 25 and 35% of the stomach content of Chinese giant salamanders (Song, 1994) and Japanese giant salamanders (Okada et al., 2008), respectively. Freshwater crabs, molluscs, and insects are also the prey of otters, including African clawless otters (Aonyx capensis) and giant otters (Pteronura brasiliensis), in addition to fish (Andarge, Wube & Balakrishnan, 2017; Carter & Rosas, 1997).

Recently, Watanabe, Baranov & Miyazaki (2020) found that Baikal seals (*Pusa sibirica*) actively hunt freshwater pelagic amphipods (*Macrohectopus branickii*), which might contribute to ~20% of their daily energy requirements. It is an important illustration that we still do not have a comprehensive knowledge of the feeding habits of many freshwater megafauna. Their predation on invertebrates might not have been well documented, or even considered as an anomaly because these species are believed to prey predominantly on vertebrates, such as fish. Hence, the influence of megafauna on invertebrate abundance and community composition might be underestimated.

In addition to direct predation on invertebrates, megafauna may also consume species that themselves prey on invertebrates; hence, reducing predatory pressure on invertebrates. For example, the main prev fish of Baikal seals are Comephorus spp. and Cottocomephorus spp. (Silow et al., 1995; Moore et al., 2009), which themselves mainly feed on invertebrates including copepods and amphipods (Silow et al., 1995; Miyasaka et al., 2006). The persistence of some parasites (including invertebrates with parasitic larvae such as freshwater pearl mussels) is highly influenced by the abundance and distributions of freshwater megafauna hosts (Geist, Porkka & Kuehn, 2006; Modesto et al., 2018; Tellez, 2014). In addition, megafauna modify the habitats of invertebrates and thereby affect their community composition. Foraging activity of grass carp reduces the extent of aquatic vegetation, which leads to habitat loss and decreased abundance of epiphytic invertebrates but may promote benthic invertebrates (Dibble & Kovalenko, 2009). At the landscape scale, habitat modification by beavers could potentially increase invertebrate diversity due to enhanced habitat heterogeneity (Law, McLean & Willby, 2016; Larsen et al., 2021).

(3) Vertebrates

In fresh waters, megafauna mainly interact with other smaller vertebrates through carnivory (both predation and scavenging) and modifying their food resources and habitats. River dolphins, anacondas, crocodylians, and many large fish species are top predators that feed on other freshwater vertebrates (Hammerschlag et al., 2019; Winemiller et al., 2015). Fish is a vital food resource for freshwater cetaceans (i.e. Inia geoffrensis, Lipotes vexillifer, Platanista gangetica, P. minor, Sotalia fluviatilis, Orcaella brevirostris, Neophocaena asiaeorientalis ssp. asiaeorientalis) in the Ganges, Indus, Irrawaddy, Mekong, Yangtze, Amazon, and Orinoco rivers and their major tributaries and connected lakes (Huang et al., 2012). Amazon river dolphins (Inia geoffrensis) feed on over 40 fish species, with a daily consumption of $\sim 2.5\%$ of their body mass (da Silva & Martin, 2018). Fish species are also the main component of the diet of large otter species (Quéméré et al., 2021). The daily consumption of fish by giant otters is about 10% of their weight (Rosas-Ribeiro, Rosas & Zuanon, 2012). For adult females, average daily fish consumption ranges from 1.4 to 3.7 kg (Carter et al., 1999). Large fish species, including pimelodids (e.g. Brachyplastystoma spp., Pseudoplatystoma spp., Zungaro spp.), gars (Lepisosteidae), freshwater cods (Maccullochella spp.), arapaima, yellowcheek (Elopichthys bambusa), and northern pike (Esox lucius) are also piscivorous (Winemiller et al., 2015). These top predators can directly regulate fish populations through predation (Winemiller et al., 2015; Hammerschlag et al., 2019). Such impacts are well documented when these top predators are introduced to a new environment (Dunker et al., 2018). After the introduction of the northern pike to a lake located in northwestern Ontario, Canada, the previously abundant yellow perch (Perca flaves*cens*) experienced a drastic decline while another native fish, pearl dace (Margariscus margarita), was extirpated (Findlay et al., 2005). The direct predation and competition caused by the introduced Nile perch have contributed to the extinction of many haplochromine fish species in Lake Victoria (Witte et al., 2000).

Large reptiles such as crocodylians and turtles also consume vertebrates. The gharial (Gavialis gangeticus) is a specialised fish-eater, with a long, narrow snout with sharp interlocking teeth (Whitaker, 2007). Although other crocodylians are less specialised in fish hunting, fish is widely reported as a part of the diet of the Sunda gharial (Tomistoma schlegelii), the Australian freshwater crocodile (Crocodylus johnsoni), the spectacled caiman and the Nile crocodile (Bezuijen et al., 1997; Somaweera et al., 2020; Thorbjarnarson, 1993). Turtles are often regarded as slow-moving animals, but large turtles can ambush fish with a fast strike when prey is within a short distance of their head (Alcott, Long & Castro-Santos, 2020). For example, fish were found in the gastrointestinal tracts of 79.8% of all sampled alligator snapping turtles from Arkansas and Louisiana (Elsey, 2006). Akani, Capizzi & Luiselli (2001) observed fish in 60.7% of the stomach contents and 80.5% of the faeces of investigated African softshell turtle (Trionyx triunguis) in Nigeria.

These large semi-aquatic reptiles are often opportunistic predators, feeding on a variety of food sources. Hence, other aquatic and semi-aquatic vertebrates, including frogs, snakes, birds, and mammals, also fall prey to large turtles, crocodylians, and anacondas (Akani *et al.*, 2001; Miranda *et al.*, 2017; Somaweera *et al.*, 2020; Elsey, 2006). It is worth noting that the regulatory effects of large semi-aquatic reptiles on their vertebrate prey might not be as strong as that of other large predators such as sharks and big cats because of their opportunistic feeding habits (i.e. they prey both on vertebrates and invertebrates) and relatively low feeding frequency (Somaweera *et al.*, 2020).

Most carnivorous megafauna may also be regarded as scavengers. For example, many crocodylians and large turtles feed on carcasses in the water and in riparian areas (Elsey, 2006; Subalusky *et al.*, 2017). Megafish, including wels catfish (*Silurus glanis*), African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*), and alligator gar (*Atractosteus spatula*), are considered scavengers as well (Goodyear, 1967; Adamek, Fašaić & Siddiqui, 1999; Hickley & Chare, 2004). Even largely herbivorous species such as hippopotami scavenge occasionally (Dudley *et al.*, 2016). However, the amount of prey that is scavenged by freshwater megafauna and its impacts on local food webs have probably been underestimated, as is the case for terrestrial carnivorous megafauna (Wilson & Wolkovich, 2011).

Apart from consuming living or dead animals, freshwater megafauna also influence the resources available to smaller vertebrates. Silver carp, bighead carp, and bigmouth buffalo (Ictiobus cyprinellus) share a similar diet with other planktivorous fish species (Pendleton et al., 2017; Lazzaro, 1987). On the bottom of rivers and lakes, sturgeons, stingrays, and black carp prey on invertebrates and compete with other benthivorous fish (Miller, 2004; Nico, Williams & Herod, 2001; Shibuya, Araújo & Zuanon, 2009). Given their wide spectrum of food resources and large body size, freshwater megafauna are likely to have advantages over smaller vertebrates when competing for food resources. Moreover, megafaunal impacts on water chemistry and habitat structure can indirectly affect vertebrates. For instance, hippopotami modify water quality in river pools during the dry season, strongly influencing fish diversity and assemblage compositions (Stears et al., 2018; Voysey et al., 2023). Pools and wetlands created by beavers provide habitats for aquatic and semiaquatic vertebrates, promoting diversity of vertebrates such as fish, amphibians, and waterbirds (Larsen et al., 2021).

V. IMPACT OF LOSING MEGAFAUNA

In fresh waters, overexploitation, habitat modification (e.g. dam construction, wetland conversion), and species introduction have led to major reductions in the distribution and abundance of megafauna (Chen *et al.*, 2023; He *et al.*, 2017). Globally, monitored populations of freshwater megafauna declined by 88% from 1970 to 2012 (Fig. 5A; He *et al.*, 2019), and for many freshwater megafauna the

estimated number of mature individuals in the wild that are capable of reproduction is less than 1000 (Fig. 5B). As ecological impacts of megafauna on ecosystems are closely associated with population size (Galetti et al., 2018; Malhi et al., 2016), the decline of populations directly alters the magnitude of megafaunal impact on the environment. For example, overexploitation has severely reduced the population density of beavers in Europe and North America (Halley & Rosell, 2002; Butler & Malanson, 2005). Although populations of beavers in North America and Europe have greatly increased after the regulation of hunting and implementation of reintroduction programs, their population abundance is still far lower than historical levels (Halley, Saveljev & Rosell, 2021; Wohl, 2021). Therefore, their influence on flow regime, sediment fluxes, nutrient cycling, and vegetation is drastically weakened compared to historical times. The extirpation of freshwater megafauna often leads to the disappearance of habitats (e.g. canals, burrows, and wallowing ponds) created and maintained by their activities, exerting adverse impacts on species that depend on these habitats. Such impacts might be further amplified by climate change [e.g. increased frequency and extent of drought and wildfires (Fairfax & Whittle, 2020; Gomez Isaza, Cramp & Franklin, 2022)]. Many megafish species, including sturgeons, salmonids, and large catfishes migrate long distances from the ocean or the lower river reaches to upstream areas. Due to construction of dams and other obstacles, the number of large migratory fish reaching their historical spawning areas has drastically declined compared to the past (Humphries & Winemiller, 2009; Hogan, 2011). In many cases, large migratory fish are completely extirpated upstream from dams (He et al., 2019). The nutrient transport associated with their migrations, which provides important nutrient subsidies to upstream regions (Flecker et al., 2010; Gende et al., 2002), is also disrupted (Doughty et al., 2016). In some cases, the direction of such nutrient flows can even be reversed where reduced adult fish densities lead to low spawning numbers, causing reductions in competition among smolts and as a consequence, relatively more nutrients being moved downstream by the young fish than were moved upstream by the adult fish (Scheuerell et al., 2005).

Nowadays, individuals of freshwater megafauna species often do not reach their potential maximum body size because large individuals are preferentially targeted in harvest (Humphries & Winemiller, 2009; Ripple et al., 2019; Garcia et al., 2012). The reduced abundance of large predators releases predation pressures on smaller planktivorous and algivorous fish, altering the trophic dynamics and ecological processes in rivers and lakes (Power et al., 1996; Estes et al., 2011). A clear body-size reduction in large freshwater fish species has been observed in many regions (Costa-Pereira et al., 2018; Humphries & Winemiller, 2009). For example, both Mary River cod (Maccullochella mariensis) and eastern freshwater cod could exceed over 30 kg, but nowadays, it is uncommon to observe individuals over 10 kg (Simpson & Jackson, 2000; Lintermans et al., 2005). Given that prey size is often associated with the size of predators



Fig. 5. (A) Estimated relative change in monitored population abundance of global freshwater megafauna from 1970 to 2012 (modified from He *et al.*, 2019). Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals of the estimated values in each year. The changes in population abundance are relative to a benchmark value of 100% in 1970 shown by the blue dashed line. (B) The 15 freshwater megafauna with fewer than 1000 estimated mature individuals that are capable of reproduction based on IUCN *Red List* assessments (IUCN, 2022). Species believed to have no mature individuals in the wild that are capable of natural reproduction are marked with an asterisk. When only ranges of the estimated number of mature individuals were provided by IUCN *Red List* assessments, the median is shown with error bars indicating the upper and lower ranges.

(Gaeta *et al.*, 2018), the loss of large predators directly influences their regulation effects on their prey (Hammerschlag *et al.*, 2019). Dwindling abundances and the loss of large individuals are likely to reduce the complexity and stability of the food webs in the local ecosystem (Brose *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, megafauna downsizing will affect the seed dispersal of riparian plants because the fruit sizes dispersed by freshwater megafauna and the seed-dispersal distance are often positively correlated with the body size of megafauna (Anderson *et al.*, 2011; Costa-Pereira *et al.*, 2018).

VI. RELEVANCE FOR ECOSYSTEM RESTORATION

Major political and institutional frameworks for making ecosystem restoration a priority have emerged recently, including the United Nations UN Decade on Ecosystem Restoration 2021–2030 and the Kunming–Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework, which targets that at least 30% of degraded inland water areas should be under 'effective restoration' by 2030. Owing to their disproportionate impacts on ecosystems, the recovery of megafauna populations is a promising tool for ecosystem restoration, with co-benefits for biodiversity conservation and nature's contributions to people (NCP) (Lorimer et al., 2015; Svenning et al., 2016). In fresh waters, restoring megafauna populations can also enhance habitat heterogeneity and promote diversity, supporting the recovery of ecosystem functions and services (Larsen et al., 2021; Strickland et al., 2023; Voysey et al., 2023). Some freshwater megafauna species, such as beavers (Halley & Rosell, 2002), sturgeons (McAdam al., 2018; Huang & Wang, 2018), crocodylians et

(Somaweera *et al.*, 2020), large turtles (Campos-Silva *et al.*, 2018), and giant salamanders (Cunningham *et al.*, 2016) have been included in *in-situ* and *ex-situ* programmes to facilitate their population recovery and support ecosystem restoration. However, including freshwater mega-fauna in restoration actions also has uncertainties and risks.

(1) Potential for restoring ecological processes

As synthesised above, freshwater megafauna have profound ecological impacts. Reinstating freshwater megafauna holds the potential for restoring ecosystem functions in relation to three key ecological processes (Fig. 6): disturbances, trophic cascades, and dispersal of other species (Perino *et al.*, 2019). Restoring these ecological processes is, in turn, expected to benefit the conservation of a broad range of freshwater species.

Freshwaters are highly dynamic ecosystems characterised by various stochastic disturbances created by flow regimes and animal activities. Nowadays, stochastic disturbances are often suppressed by anthropogenic impacts (e.g. river regulation and fragmentation, defaunation), leading to decreased habitat complexity and a decline in biodiversity and ecosystem resilience (Rideout et al., 2021). Reinstating megafauna holds the potential to increase disturbances and habitat heterogeneity in freshwater ecosystems through their activities (e.g. trampling, foraging, wallowing, excavating, dam or nest building), in turn, promoting overall freshwater biodiversity (Law et al., 2014; Larsen et al., 2021). It is expected that megafauna will enhance habitat heterogeneity in fresh waters, as has been documented for species such as beavers, hippopotamus, and some crocodylians (Bakker et al., 2016; Somaweera et al., 2020; Larsen et al., 2021; Voysey *et al.*, 2023). However, it is important to recognise



Fig. 6. Conceptual diagram showing potential impacts of reinstating freshwater megafauna populations on ecological processes and nature's contributions to people (NCP): (A) beavers, (B) hippopotamus, (C) freshwater cetaceans, (D) frugivorous fish such as the tambaqui, (E) sturgeons, (F) piscivorous fish such as the arapaima, (G) crocodylians, (H) large turtles, and (I) giant salamanders. The heights of the bars indicate the levels of their relative potential (i.e. low, medium, high, very high) in each category of ecological processes, beneficial NCP, and detrimental NCP. The definition and examples of each category are presented in Table S2.

that the impacts of many freshwater megafauna species on habitat heterogeneity have yet to be comprehensively investigated empirically (Strickland *et al.*, 2023). Future research needs explicitly to quantify megafauna disturbances and their net effects on ecosystem processes at different spatial and temporal scales.

In human-modified ecosystems, ecological processes are often affected by the extirpation, reduction, or alteration of the size structure of megafauna populations (Estes *et al.*, 2011; He *et al.*, 2019; Ripple *et al.*, 2019), and anthropogenic influences may reduce the top-down effects of large predators (Dorresteijn *et al.*, 2015). Such changes lead to simplified ecological networks and reduced ecosystem stability (Solé & Montoya, 2001; Brose *et al.*, 2017). However, it is challenging to assess comprehensively the impacts of freshwater megafauna on local trophic dynamics due to the generally small remaining populations. The abundance of freshwater megafauna in many industrialised countries is probably as low as it has been for decades (Humphries & Winemiller, 2009). Therefore, their potential roles in shaping local trophic cascades are likely underappreciated and weakly understood (Winemiller *et al.*, 2015). Given their diverse connections with other freshwater biotas (e.g. *via* direct consumption of species at different trophic levels or indirect trophic cascading interactions; Winemiller *et al.*, 2015; Hammerschlag *et al.*, 2019), restoring populations and the size structure of megafauna, together with other restoration measures (e.g. reduced anthropogenic stressors and enhanced river connectivity), will promote trophic interactions and increase trophic complexity as envisioned in the concept of trophic rewilding (Svenning *et al.*, 2016), which so far has seen limited application to freshwater megafauna.

Many freshwater habitats today are highly fragmented due to wetland conversion, water abstraction, and construction of weirs, dams, and levees, impeding the movements of freshwater species (Grill *et al.*, 2019; Winemiller *et al.*, 2016). Restoration actions targeting freshwater megafauna may improve connectivity in freshwater ecosystems, promoting the dispersal of other smaller freshwater species. For example, conservation and restoration actions targeting large migratory fish species often include improving habitat connectivity as a critical element, providing benefits to other

smaller migratory species (Worthington et al., 2022). In addition, freshwater megafauna themselves might provide connectivity and function as dispersal vectors of plants, microbes, and smaller animals. For example, tambaqui (Colossoma macropomum) and freshwater turtles such as common snapping turtle, alligator snapping turtle, and Arrau turtle engage in frugivory and seed dispersal of plants (Falcón, Moll & Hansen, 2020; Correa et al., 2015; Anderson et al., 2011) while crocodylians may also contribute to seed dispersal (Somaweera et al., 2019). Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and brown trout (Salmo trutta) are the primary hosts for the larvae of freshwater pearl mussels (Margaritifera margaritifera) in Europe (Geist et al., 2006), while several sturgeons (Acipenser sturio, A. naccarii, and A. baerii) are the hosts of Spengler's freshwater mussel (M. auricularia) (Soler et al., 2019). Therefore, restoring freshwater megafauna and their habitats will also facilitate the dispersal of other species and help with their persistence and recovery (Modesto et al., 2018).

(2) Potential for enhancing nature's contributions to people

Freshwater ecosystems support vital NCP, including the provision of food and water, flood regulation, water purification, and cultural inspiration (Díaz et al., 2018; Lynch et al., 2023). Freshwater megafauna underpin or amplify many of these contributions. For example, reinstating freshwater megafauna assemblages can enhance regulating NCP directly through the facilitation of dispersal and habitat creation and maintenance (Naiman & Rogers, 1997; Larsen et al., 2021; Moore, 2006). Habitats created and maintained by freshwater megafauna (e.g. beaver ponds, alligator holes, hippopotamus pools) contribute to the regulation of freshwater quality and quantity and are important refugia during drought or wildfire (Palmer & Mazzotti, 2004; Fairfax & Whittle, 2020; Larsen et al., 2021), and may mitigate the effects of climate change (Hammerschlag et al., 2019; Malhi et al., 2022).

Freshwater megafauna provide various material elements, including food, medicine, and ornaments for humans. The meat of many megafish species (e.g. arapaima, giant barb, Mekong giant catfish, and tambaqui) fetches high prices while eggs of sturgeons, crocodylians, and large turtles are also considered highly valuable (Ripple et al., 2019). Freshwater megafauna are, or used to be, important sources of food and income for local human communities (Hogan, 2011; Winemiller et al., 2015; Forero-Medina et al., 2021). Hence, the restoration and sustainable management of freshwater megafauna populations would improve the livelihoods of local human communities. For example, successful community management in the Juruá River, Brazil, has led to an increased arapaima population and improved income for local communities (Campos-Silva & Peres, 2016; Campos-Silva et al., 2021). Conservation and restoration actions targeting megafauna are likely to benefit a broad range of other species (Campos-Silva et al., 2018), which in

turn further increases the services and products provided by freshwater ecosystems.

Due to human fascination with large animals, reinstating freshwater megafauna is likely to enhance non-material NCP, including physical and psychological experiences (e.g. ecotourism, recreational fishing), artistic inspiration, and supporting identities. Various megafishes, including Siberian taimen, Wels catfish, northern pike, muskellunge (Esox masquinongy), Putitor mahseer (Tor putitora), and Murray cod are popular and highly prized by recreational anglers (Nyboer et al., 2021). Many megafauna species, including river dolphins, hippopotamus, beavers, and crocodylians, are charismatic foci for ecotourism, which can provide economic benefits for local communities (Walter & Sen, 2018; Cohen, 2019; Auster, Barr & Brazier, 2020; Bonye, Yiridomoh & Dayour, 2022). Moreover, megafauna, including sturgeons, crocodylians, and large turtles, are often closely associated with the cultures and identities of indigenous peoples and local communities (Freitas et al., 2020; Noble et al., 2016). For example, Murray cod is part of the intangible cultural heritage of Australian aboriginal peoples, with a pivotal role in the creation story of the Murray River (Rowland, 2005). Similarly, in North America, the lake sturgeon (Acipenser fulvescens) was traditionally the first fresh meat of Menominee people each spring and has been associated with the story of the tribe's origins and religion (David, 1995). Therefore, restoration targeting freshwater megafauna holds great potential for enhancing non-material NCP and providing economic and cultural benefits. In turn, it can restore or enhance bonding between humans and freshwater megafauna, which may further increase the involvement of local communities in conservation and restoration and facilitate sustainable development.

(3) Challenges for restoration

Although reinstating megafauna populations can restore ecological processes and enhance beneficial NCP, the potential for conflict between megafauna and people exists. The restored megafauna population may inflict detrimental NCP (Pascual-Rico *et al.*, 2021), including competition between humans and megafauna for habitats and resources, property damage, and risk to human life. These detrimental NCP may impede the development of conservation and restoration actions if human–megafauna coexistence is not well managed (Ceauşu *et al.*, 2019).

Freshwater megafauna often rely on large habitat areas and the same resources as humans, which may lead to conflicts over the exploitation of freshwater resources (e.g. fish, water, and energy). For example, river dolphins, crocodylians, and giant otters feed on fish and might be perceived to cause depredation of fish stocks and therefore be killed by fishermen (Cook *et al.*, 2022; Loch, Marmontel & Simões-Lopes, 2009). Many megafishes need to migrate a long distance to reach spawning or feeding grounds (Winemiller *et al.*, 2016; Hogan, 2011; Worthington *et al.*, 2022). Conservation and restoration actions targeting them require river connectivity to be maintained or restored, which directly conflicts with hydropower development, particularly in megafish-rich basins such as the Amazon and Mekong (Zarfl *et al.*, 2019; He *et al.*, 2021*b*). Growing energy demands and international agreements on energy transition promote hydropower development (Hermoso, 2017); therefore, it is politically and economically challenging to cancel planned hydropower dams or to remove large existing ones. Proposals for functional solutions especially for large dams include substitution habitats in bypasses that ensure the ecological function of a river while allowing hydropower but requiring a compromise in discharge utilisation (Zhang *et al.*, 2023).

Although freshwater megafauna provide economic benefits for local communities, restoring populations of some species might increase the risk of damage to human property. Crop damage by hippopotami has occurred in many parts of Africa, particularly near wetlands (Kanga et al., 2012). Damage to fishing nets caused by crocodylians, river dolphins, and giant otters is also frequent (Marowa, Matanzima & Nhiwatiwa, 2021; Cook et al., 2022). In addition, crocodylians may attack livestock (Dunham et al., 2010; Pooley et al., 2021). Such damage can lead to considerable economic loss and affect the livelihoods of local people. For example, there are concerns that beaver reintroduction in Europe and North America will cause damage to valued trees, flood agricultural land and hinder the movement of economically important fish such as salmonids (Coz & Young, 2020; Auster, Barr & Brazier, 2021). Furthermore, megafauna such as hippopotami and crocodylians can attack humans, leading to fatalities (Kanga et al., 2012; Marowa et al., 2021; Cook et al., 2022; Dunham et al., 2010; García-Grajales & Buenrostro-Silva, 2019). For example, 149 unprovoked attacks on humans by crocodylians, including 25 fatal ones, were reported in Mexico between 2000 and 2018 (García-Grajales & Buenrostro-Silva, 2019). In Mozambique, Nile crocodiles killed 134 and injured 36 people in 27 months, while hippopotami killed 12 people and resulted in 10 injury cases in the same period (Dunham et al., 2010). Real or perceived risk to humans could therefore translate to objections against reinstating freshwater megafauna by local communities (Balaguera-Reina & Farfàn-Ardila, 2018).

In addition to detrimental NCP, shifting baselines is another challenge for reinstating freshwater megafauna in regions where they were extirpated a long time ago, as long-extirpated species might not be considered a restoration target (Humphries & Winemiller, 2009). Sturgeons and Atlantic salmon were perceived as native species in Europe by only 40% of respondents in a survey conducted in France, Germany, Norway, and Sweden in 2015 (Kochalski *et al.*, 2019). In China, older fishermen are more likely to recognise the Baiji and Chinese paddlefish than younger ones (Turvey *et al.*, 2010*a*). Younger generations get used to the degraded freshwater ecosystems, thereby continuously lowering their expectations of the natural environment and reducing their willingness to support the restoration of long-extirpated freshwater megafauna (i.e. the shifting baseline syndrome).

Given that many freshwater megafauna species have few mature individuals in the wild (Fig. 5B), ex-situ restoration programmes (e.g. captive breeding) have been implemented to support their population recovery and to reduce stress from unsustainable harvesting. For example, laboratoryreared juvenile and subadult sturgeons and salmonids have been released to rivers repeatedly in Europe, North America, and Asia to enhance wild populations (Fraser, 2008; McAdam et al., 2018; Huang & Wang, 2018; Friedrich, Reinartz & Gessner, 2019). Captive breeding programmes have also been initiated for large reptiles (Marioni et al., 2021) and amphibians (Cunningham et al., 2016). These ex-situ programmes can help prevent species extinction when *in-situ* measures fail or take too long to restore the required habitats. However, they bring their own set of challenges. For instance, substantial financial investments are needed to establish and maintain breeding facilities, limiting the development of reintroduction programmes in many regions (Marioni et al., 2021). Captive-reared individuals may have low genetic variability and limited capacity to adapt to changing environmental conditions, which could lead to reduced population fitness when wild populations are supplemented by these individuals (Fraser, 2008; Williams & Osentoski, 2007). Releasing captive-reared individuals into the wild may also introduce diseases and parasites, particularly in the case of translocation across river basins (Cunningham et al., 2016; White et al., 2023). Moreover, it is difficult to restore the population size of freshwater megafauna to historical levels if their habitats remain degraded, limiting the potential fully to recover their ecological impacts. Hence, a mix of *in-situ* and *ex-situ* measures is needed to restore the ecological functions supported by freshwater megafauna.

VII. FUTURE INVESTIGATIONS

In this review, we synthesised existing evidence documenting the impacts of megafauna on freshwater ecosystems and discussed the potential that their restoration will have for enhancing biodiversity conservation, ecological functionality, and NCP. Our review was based on information from articles published in English and Chinese, and may therefore overlook relevant studies published in other languages. Within the identified literature, evidence was unevenly distributed among species, regions, and types of ecological impact, pointing to research gaps and, thus, avenues for future research. For example, species such as the common hippopotamus, beavers, river dolphins, and large salmonids have received the most research attention, while many large fish species, turtles, and crocodylians, particularly in the Global South, remain understudied. Such gaps may impede ecological justification for their conservation and lead to underestimation of their potential in ecosystem conservation and restoration efforts (Somaweera *et al.*, 2020; Svenning *et al.*, 2016). Further research is particularly needed in four domains.

(1) Historical baselines

Information on contemporary freshwater megafauna prior to intense anthropogenic influences could improve our understanding of their ecological roles and help us to appropriate conservation and restoration goals set (Humphries & Winemiller, 2009). Historical occurrence data of freshwater megafauna provides information on the extent of their ecological impacts in a natural environment. For example, historical records of migratory megafish species in upstream sections of rivers reveal where megafauna-driven subsidies occurred. Such information is often recorded in historical accounts and in natural-history museum collections, or preserved in the culture of indigenous peoples and local communities (Díaz et al., 2015; Blanco-Garrido, Hermoso & Clavero, 2023). Digitising historical documents and increasing recognition of indigenous and local knowledge will advance biodiversity research by making these data easier to access. Furthermore, rapid developments in species distribution modelling will help researchers to reconstruct past environmental conditions of megafauna (Svenning et al., 2011; Hallman et al., 2021). As well as occurrence records, abundance data under natural conditions are needed to understand the magnitude of megafaunal impacts. For example, such data could provide essential information for calculating the amounts of nutrients migratory megafishes could transport from the ocean to inland areas or redistribute within fresh waters (Doughty et al., 2016). Abundance data can also help researchers estimate the magnitude of disturbance posed by crocodylians and turtles in riparian habitats through nesting and foraging activities and the amounts of nutrients they transport across ecosystems due to hatching failure or egg predation. Information from historical accounts (e.g. records of observed abundance or the number of individuals harvested over a certain period) can assist in estimating their historical abundance (Forero-Medina et al., 2021; Humphries & Winemiller, 2009). In addition, advancements in methods for estimating historical population sizes of species based on fossil records (Pilowsky et al., 2022) or genomic data of existing individuals (Yuan et al., 2018; Waldman et al., 2019) will further improve our understanding of their population changes over time.

(2) Life history of freshwater megafauna

We still have limited knowledge of the life history of many freshwater megafauna, particularly of non-mammalian megafauna in the Global South. Life-history data, including information on diet, age of maturity, timing and location of reproduction, home range, and movement patterns, indicate the habitat requirements of freshwater megafauna and how they interact with the environment and other species. Detailed data on demographic structure are essential to understand population dynamics and elaborate accurate population viability analyses. Such information is imperative for developing effective conservation and restoration strategies. Information on migration corridors and the timing and location of megafish spawning will assist optimisation of dam locations (He et al., 2021b; Zarfl et al., 2019; Couto, Messager & Olden, 2021; Ziv et al., 2012) and operation (Huang & Wang, 2018). Although many freshwater megafauna are challenging to monitor, emerging technologies in animal tracking (e.g. camera-trapping and Global Positioning System devices), laboratory techniques (e.g. stable isotope analyses and genetic approaches), and data processing can help us understand better the life history of freshwater megafauna and their responses to environmental change (Nathan et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2022). These technological advances also improve our understanding of the effectiveness of restoration efforts. For example, monitoring the movements of migratory megafish species in different life stages will help to assess the effects of fish passages on migration, reproduction, and population demography, which in turn will improve the design of fish passages (Cooke et al., 2020; Elings et al., 2024).

(3) Trophic interactions

Although researchers have emphasised the ecological importance of large herbivores and top predators in aquatic environments (Hammerschlag et al., 2019; Bakker et al., 2016), most observations of megafauna-linked trophic interactions are from the oceans. We still know very little about the trophic impacts of freshwater megafauna, particularly top predators, compared to their marine or terrestrial counterparts, limiting their integration into trophic rewilding efforts. Observing direct interactions between freshwater megafauna and other species in the field is challenging because many of them are cryptic, and their feeding activities often occur in aquatic environments with low levels of visibility. Diet data have been documented for many freshwater megafauna based on their stomach contents or faeces, which could lead to bias towards prev with hard structures that remain undigested in stomachs and might not accurately reflect their full diet or influence on local trophic dynamics (Somaweera et al., 2020). The inclusion of emerging methodologies such as DNA barcoding approaches can improve our understanding of trophic interactions between megafauna and smaller species in freshwater environments (De Sousa, Silva & Xavier, 2019). In addition, controlled experiments to monitor how local trophic dynamics change when the presence and population abundance of freshwater megafauna are manipulated would be particularly beneficial for that purpose.

(4) Human-megafauna interactions

Human-nature interactions ultimately determine the implementation and outcomes of restoration actions. Ecologists and social scientists should collaborate to investigate

interactions between freshwater megafauna and human social systems to facilitate sustainable management strategies and improve human-freshwater megafauna coexistence in different environmental contexts (e.g. from natural to human-modified and urban freshwater systems). In regions such as the Amazon, Congo, and Mekong basins, freshwater megafauna are often closely associated with the livelihood and culture of indigenous peoples and local communities (Freitas et al., 2020; Hogan, 2011; Noble et al., 2016). Through collaboration with local communities and documenting their local ecological knowledge we can improve our understanding of beneficial NCP provided by freshwater megafauna (e.g. food and feed, supporting identities) and human-megafauna bonds. When planning for conservation and restoration actions, we need to assess the potential detrimental NCP associated with freshwater megafauna (e.g. competition for habitats and resources, damage to property, and risk to human life) and the frequencies of detrimental NCP, as well as when and where detrimental NCP occur (Ceauşu et al., 2019). Such information will assist researchers in assessing how the benefits and costs of restoring freshwater megafauna populations will be shared by different groups. Although people often do not directly encounter wild freshwater megafauna in many parts of the world, including most urban areas in the Global South and most areas of the Global North, it is also important to investigate their perceptions of these large animals. It will provide insights into how to increase people's appreciation of freshwater megafauna and raise public awareness of freshwater biodiversity conservation. In turn this can benefit conservation and restoration actions, such as the establishment of new protected areas and reintroduction of freshwater megafauna, by influencing policymakers' decisions and increasing the potential for ecotourism.

Apart from influencing the population abundance of freshwater megafauna in their native ranges, humans also introduce these large animals to other regions for aquaculture, recreational fishing, biological control, or as pets (Chen et al., 2023; White et al., 2023). While the introduction of alien species does not inevitably have adverse impacts, some alien populations of freshwater megafauna have been shown to impact native species negatively through altering habitat structure and biotic interactions in the recipient ecosystems (Witte et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2023). Conversely, the novel (introduced) ranges of species such as Chinese giant salamander and large salmonids have become strongholds, while they have experienced population declines and range contraction in their native ranges (Browne et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2023). Thus, introduction of freshwater megafauna to non-native regions might be an option to prevent species extinction and restore ecosystem functions lost due to native megafauna extinctions, but their environmental and socio-economic impacts in the recipient ecosystems must first be thoroughly investigated (Chen et al., 2023; Subalusky et al., 2023). Such investigations could provide valuable information for conserving freshwater megafauna, managing introductions, and justifying their removal from non-native ecosystems.

VIII. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Our review compiled evidence documenting the ecological impacts of freshwater megafauna. These species shape freshwater ecological processes through their influences on habitat structure, flow dynamics, biogeochemical cycling, and biotic interactions.

(2) Declines in population abundance and loss of large individuals of freshwater megafauna, due to overexploitation and habitat destruction, have rapidly and profoundly reduced their ecological impacts in fresh waters.

(3) Restoring populations of freshwater megafauna is a promising approach for leveraging co-benefits between biodiversity conservation, ecological restoration, and NCP. We propose that reinstating freshwater megafauna populations holds the potential for restoring key ecological processes (e.g. disturbances, trophic cascades, and dispersal) and promoting overall freshwater biodiversity. It can also enhance NCP for local human communities, e.g. through provisioning aquatic resources, mitigating the effects of extreme weather events, and supporting cultural identities.

(4) Potential detrimental NCP associated with megafauna restoration, including competition for habitats and resources, damage to human property, and risk to human life, needs to be acknowledged and carefully addressed to improve human–freshwater megafauna coexistence.

(5) We still have a limited understanding of the roles of freshwater megafauna in shaping ecosystem functioning. Key research gaps relate to (*i*) historical baselines regarding distributions and abundance of freshwater megafauna, (*ii*) their life history, (*iii*) interactions with other freshwater species, and (*iv*) interactions with humans. Filling these gaps is important to understand the role of these species in freshwater ecosystems, their full potential for ecosystem restoration, and how the coexistence of humans and megafauna in different environments can be achieved.

IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work leading to this publication is supported by the PRIME programme of the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) with funds from the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) and is a contribution to the Leibniz Competition project 'Freshwater Megafauna Futures'. F.H. acknowledges support from the Chinese Academy of Sciences (E355S122). J.-C.S. considers this work a contribution to his VILLUM Investigator project 'Biodiversity Dynamics in a Changing World', funded by VILLUM FONDEN (grant 16549), and Center for Ecological Dynamics in a Novel Biosphere (ECONOVO), funded by Danish National Research Foundation (grant DNRF173). E.L.R was funded by the Independent Research Fund Denmark, Inge Lehmann Programme (grant 1131-00006B). We would like to thank Phoebe Griffith, Ronaldo Sousa, and Sergio Balaguera-Reina for their helpful comments on earlier drafts, and Camila R. Ferrara, Jeffrey W. Lang,

Celesté Maré, and Huigong Yu for providing photographs of freshwater megafauna. We also thank Studio Adén for designing the species icons in Figure 1. Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

X. REFERENCES

- References identified with an asterisk (*) are cited only within the online Supporting Information.
- ADAMEK, Z., FAŠAIĆ, K. & SIDDIQUI, M. (1999). Prey selectivity in wels (Silurus glanis) and African catfish (Clarias gariepinus). Croatian Journal of Fisheries: Ribarstvo 57(2), 47–60.
- AKANI, G., CAPIZZI, D. & LUISELLI, L. (2001). Diet of the softshell turtle, *Trianyx trianguis*, in an Afrotropical forested region. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology* 4(1), 200–201.
- ALCOTT, D., LONG, M. & CASTRO-SANTOS, T. (2020). Wait and snap: eastern snapping turtles (*Chelydra serpentina*) prey on migratory fish at road-stream crossing culverts. *Biology Letters* 16(9), 20200218.
- ANDARGE, E., WUBE, T. & BALAKRISHNAN, M. (2017). Diet analysis of the African clawless otter (Aonyx capensis) in and around Lake Tana. Journal of Ecology and The Natural Environment 9(4), 53–61.
- ANDERSON, J. T., NUTTLE, T., SALDAÑA ROJAS, J. S., PENDERGAST, T. H. & FLECKER, A. S. (2011). Extremely long-distance seed dispersal by an overfished Amazonian frugivore. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 278(1723), 3329–3335.
- ARESCO, M. J. & GUNZBURGER, M. S. (2007). Ecology and morphology of *Chelydra* serpentina in northwestern Florida. Southeastern Naturalist 6(3), 435–448.
- AUSTER, R. E., BARR, S. W. & BRAZIER, R. E. (2020). Wildlife tourism in reintroduction projects: exploring social and economic benefits of beaver in local settings. *Journal for Nature Conservation* 58, 125920.
- AUSTER, R. E., BARR, S. W. & BRAZIER, R. E. (2021). Improving engagement in managing reintroduction conflicts: learning from beaver reintroduction. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 64(10), 1713–1734.
- BAKKER, E. S., PAGÈS, J. F., ARTHUR, R. & ALCOVERRO, T. (2016). Assessing the role of large herbivores in the structuring and functioning of freshwater and marine angiosperm ecosystems. *Ecography* **39**(2), 162–179.
- BALAGUERA-REINA, S. A. & FARFÀN-ARDILA, N. (2018). Are we ready for successful apex predator conservation in Colombia? Human-crocodilian interactions as a study case. *Herpetological Review* 49(1), 5–12.
- BALAGUERA-REINA, S. A., VENEGAS-ANAYA, M., BELTRÁN-LÓPEZ, V., CRISTANCHO, A. & DENSMORE, L. D. III (2018). Food habits and ontogenetic dietary partitioning of American crocodiles in a tropical Pacific Island in Central America. *Ecosphere* 9(9), e02393.
- BARNOSKY, A. D., KOCH, P. L., FERANEC, R. S., WING, S. L. & SHABEL, A. B. (2004). Assessing the causes of Late Pleistocene extinctions on the continents. *Science* 306(5693), 70–75.
- BENGTSON, J. L. (1983). Estimating food consumption of free-ranging manatees in Florida. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 47(4), 1186–1192.
- BEST, R. C. (1981). Foods and feeding habits of wild and captive Sirenia. Mammal Review 11(1), 3–29.
- BEZUIJEN, M., HARTOYO, P., ELLIOT, M. & BAKER, B. (1997). Second Report on the Ecology of the False Gharial (Tomistoma schlegelii) in Sumatera. Wildlife Management International Ptv. Ltd, Darwin.
- BILLARD, R. & LECOINTRE, G. (2000). Biology and conservation of sturgeon and paddlcfish. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 10(4), 355–392.
- BLANCO-GARRIDO, F., HERMOSO, V. & CLAVERO, M. (2023). Fishing historical sources: a snapshot of 19th-century freshwater fauna in Spain. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 33, 1353–1369.
- BONYE, S. Z., YIRIDOMOH, G. Y. & DAYOUR, F. (2022). Do ecotourism sites enhance rural development in Ghana? Evidence from the Wechiau community hippo sanctuary project in the upper west region, Wa, Ghana. *Journal of Ecotourism* **21**(2), 121–146.
- BOULÊTREAU, S., CUCHEROUSSET, J., VILLÉGER, S., MASSON, R. & SANTOUL, F. (2011). Colossal aggregations of giant alien freshwater fish as a potential biogeochemical hotspot. *PLoS One* 6(10), e25732.
- BRAZIER, R. E., PUTTOCK, A., GRAHAM, H. A., AUSTER, R. E., DAVIES, K. H. & BROWN, C. M. L. (2021). Beaver: nature's ecosystem engineers. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water* 8(1), e1494.
- BROSE, U., BLANCHARD, J. L., EKLOF, A., GALIANA, N., HARTVIG, M., HIRT, M. R., KALINKAT, G., NORDSTROM, M. C., O'GORMAN, E. J., RALL, B. C., SCHNEIDER, F. D., THEBAULT, E. & JACOB, U. (2017). Predicting the consequences of species loss using size-structured biodiversity approaches. *Biological Reviews* 92(2), 684–697.

- BROWNE, R., LI, H., WANG, Z., OKADA, S., HIME, P., MCMILLAN, A., WU, M., DIAZ, R., MCGINNITY, D. & BRIGGLER, J. (2014). The giant salamanders (Cryptobranchidae): part B. Biogeography, ecology and reproduction. *Amphibian* and Reptile Conservation 5(4), 30–50.
- BUECH, R. R., RUGG, D. J. & MILLER, N. L. (1989). Temperature in beaver lodges and bank dens in a near-boreal environment. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 67(4), 1061–1066.
- BUTLER, D. R. & MALANSON, G. P. (2005). The geomorphic influences of beaver dams and failures of beaver dams. *Geomorphology* 71(1), 48–60.
- BUTLER, G. L. & ROWLAND, S. J. (2009). Using underwater cameras to describe the reproductive behaviour of the endangered eastern freshwater cod *Maccullochella ikei*. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **18**(3), 337–349.
- CAMPBELL, M. R. & MAZZOTTI, F. J. (2004). Characterization of natural and artificial alligator holes. *Southeastern Naturalist* 3(4), 583–594.
- CAMPOS-SILVA, J. V., HAWES, J. E., ANDRADE, P. C. M. & PERES, C. A. (2018). Unintended multispecies co-benefits of an Amazonian community-based conservation programme. *Nature Sustainability* 1(11), 650–656.
- CAMPOS-SILVA, J. V. & PERES, C. A. (2016). Community-based management induces rapid recovery of a high-value tropical freshwater fishery. *Scientific Reports* 6(1), 34745.
- CAMPOS-SILVA, J. V., PERES, C. A., HAWES, J. E., HAUGAASEN, T., FREITAS, C. T., LADLE, R. J. & LOPES, P. F. M. (2021). Sustainable-use protected areas catalyze enhanced livelihoods in rural Amazonia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118(40), e2105480118.
- CARRIZO, S. F., JÄHNIG, S. C., BREMERICH, V., FREYHOF, J., HARRISON, I., HE, F., LANGHANS, S. D., TOCKNER, K., ZARFL, C. & DARWALL, W. (2017). Freshwater megafauna: flagships for freshwater biodiversity under threat. *Bioscience* 67(10), 919–927.
- CARTER, S. K., FERNANDO, C., COPPER, A. & CORDEIRO-DUARTE, A. (1999). Consumption rate, food preferences and transit time of captive giant otters *Pteronura brasiliensis*: implications for the study of wild populations. *Aquatic Mammals* 25, 79–90.
- CARTER, S. K. & ROSAS, F. C. W. (1997). Biology and conservation of the Giant Otter Pteronura brasiliensis. Mammal Review 27(1), 1–26.
- CEAUŞU, S., GRAVES, R. A., KILLION, A. K., SVENNING, J.-C. & CARTER, N. H. (2019). Governing trade-offs in ecosystem services and disservices to achieve human-wildlife coexistence. *Conservation Biology* 33(3), 543–553.
- CHEN, X., JÄHNIG, S. C., JESCHKE, J. M., EVANS, T. G. & HE, F. (2023). Do alien species affect native freshwater megafauna? *Freshwater Biology* 68(6), 903–914.
- COHEN, E. (2019). Crocodile tourism: the emasculation of ferocity. *Tourism Culture & Communication* 19(2), 83–102.
- Соок, P., HAWES, J. E., CAMPOS-SILVA, J. V. & PERES, C. A. (2022). Human-wildlife conflicts with crocodilians, cetaceans and otters in the tropics and subtropics. *Peefj* 10, e12688.
- COOKE, S. J., CECH, J. J., GLASSMAN, D. M., SIMARD, J., LOUTTIT, S., LENNOX, R. J., CRUZ-FONT, L. & O'CONNOR, C. M. (2020). Water resource development and sturgeon (Acipenseridae): state of the science and research gaps related to fish passage, entrainment, impingement and behavioural guidance. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **30**(2), 219–244.
- CORNELISSEN, I. J. M., VIJVERBERG, J., VAN DEN BELD, A. M., HELMSING, N. R., VERRETH, J. A. J. & NAGELKERKE, L. A. J. (2018). Stomach contents and stable isotopes confirm ontogenetic diet shifts of Nile perch, *Lates nilolicus*, in southern Lake Victoria. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 44(6), 1264–1272.
- CORREA, S. B., COSTA-PEREIRA, R., FLEMING, T., GOULDING, M. & ANDERSON, J. T. (2015). Neotropical fish-fruit interactions: eco-evolutionary dynamics and conservation. *Biological Reviews* **90**(4), 1263–1278.
- COSTA-PEREIRA, R., LUCAS, C., CROSSA, M., ANDERSON, J. T., ALBUQUERQUE, B. W., DARY, E. P., PIEDADE, M. T. F., DEMARCHI, L. O., REBOUÇAS, E. R., COSTA, G. D. S., GALETTI, M. & CORREA, S. B. (2018). Defaunation shadow on mutualistic interactions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(12), E2673–E2675.
- COUTO, T. B. A., MESSAGER, M. L. & OLDEN, J. D. (2021). Safeguarding migratory fish via strategic planning of future small hydropower in Brazil. *Nature Sustainability* **4**(5), 409–416.
- Coz, D. M. & YOUNG, J. C. (2020). Conflicts over wildlife conservation: learning from the reintroduction of beavers in Scotland. *People and Nature* 2(2), 406–419.
- CUCHEROUSSET, J., BOULÊTREAU, S., AZÉMAR, F., COMPIN, A., GUILLAUME, M. & SANTOUL, F. (2012). "Freshwater killer whales": beaching behavior of an alien fish to hunt land birds. *PLoS One* 7(12), e50840.
- CUNHA, F. L. R., BERNHARD, R. & VOGT, R. C. (2020). Diet of an assemblage of four species of turtles (*Podocnemis*) in the Rio Uatumã, Amazonas, Brazil. *Copeia* 108(1), 103–115.
- CUNNINGHAM, A. A., TURVEY, S. T., ZHOU, F., MEREDITH, H. M. R., GUAN, W., LIU, X. L., SUN, C. M., WANG, Z. Q. & WU, M. Y. (2016). Development of the Chinese giant salamander *Andrias davidianus* farming industry in Shaanxi Province, China: conservation threats and opportunities. *Oyx* 50(2), 265–273.
- DA SILVA, V. M. F. & MARTIN, A. R. (2018). Amazon river dolphin: Inia geoffrensis. In Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals, Third Edition. (cds B. WURSIG, J. G. M. THEWISSEN and K. M. KOVACS), pp. 21–24. Academic Press, London.

DAS, I. (2008). Pelochelys cantorii Gray 1864 – Asian giant softshell turtle. Chelonian Research Monographs 5, 011.1–011.6.

- DAS, I. & SINGH, S. (2009). Chitra indica (Gray 1830) narrow-headed softshell turtle. Chelonian Research Monographs 5(27), 1–27.
- DAS, I., SIRSI, S., VASUDEVAN, K. & MURTHY, B. (2014). Nilssonia leithii (Gray 1872) Leith's softshell turtle. Chelonian Research Monographs 5, 075.1–075.5.
- DAVID, R. M. B. (1995). Return to Nama'o Uskiwamít: the importance of sturgeon in menominee Indian history. *The Wisconsin Magazine of History* 79(1), 32–48.
- DE SOUSA, L. L., SILVA, S. M. & XAVIER, R. (2019). DNA metabarcoding in diet studies: unveiling ecological aspects in aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. *Environmental DNA* 1(3), 199–214.
- DÍAZ, S., DEMISSEW, S., CARABIAS, J., JOLY, C., LONSDALE, M., ASH, N., LARIGAUDERIE, A., ADHIKARI, J. R., ARICO, S., BÁLDI, A., BARTUSKA, A., BASTE, I. A., BILGIN, A., BRONDIZIO, E., CHAN, K. M. A., *ET AL*. (2015). The IPBES conceptual framework - connecting nature and people. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 14, 1–16.
- DÍAZ, S., PASCUAL, U., STENSEKE, M., MARTÍN-LÓPEZ, B., WATSON, R. T., MOLNÁR, Z., HILL, R., CHAN, K. M. A., BASTE, I. A., BRAUMAN, K. A., POLASKY, S., CHURCH, A., LONSDALE, M., LARIGAUDERIE, A., LEADLEY, P. W., *ET AL.* (2018). Assessing nature's contributions to people. *Science* **359**(6373), 270–272.

DIBBLE, E. D. & KOVALENKO, K. (2009). Ecological impact of grass carp: a review of the available data. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* 47(1), 1–15.

- DIRZO, R., YOUNG, H. S., GALETTI, M., CEBALLOS, G., ISAAC, N. J. B. & COLLEN, B. (2014). Defaunation in the Anthropocene. *Science* 345(6195), 401–406.
- DORRESTEIJN, I., SCHULTNER, J., NIMMO, D. G., FISCHER, J., HANSPACH, J., KUEMMERLE, T., KEHOE, L. & RITCHIE, E. G. (2015). Incorporating anthropogenic effects into trophic ecology: predator-prey interactions in a human-dominated landscape. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282(1814), 20151602.
- DOUGHTY, C. E., PRYS-JONES, T. O., FAURBY, S., ABRAHAM, A. J., HEPP, C., LESHYK, V., FOFANOV, V. Y., NIETO, N. C., SVENNING, J.-C. & GALETTI, M. (2020). Megafauna decline have reduced pathogen dispersal which may have increased emergent infectious diseases. *Ecography* **43**(8), 1107–1117.
- DOUGHTY, C. E., ROMAN, J., FAURBY, S., WOLF, A., HAQUE, A., BAKKER, E. S., MALHI, Y., DUNNING, J. B. & SVENNING, J.-C. (2016). Global nutrient transport in a world of giants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113(4), 868–873.
- DUDLEY, J. P., HANG'OMBE, B. M., LEENDERTZ, F. H., DORWARD, L. J., DE CASTRO, J., SUBALUSKY, A. L. & CLAUSS, M. (2016). Carnivory in the common hippopotamus *Hippopotamus amphibius*: implications for the ecology and epidemiology of anthrax in African landscapes. *Mammal Review* 46(3), 191–203.
- DUNHAM, K. M., GHIURGHI, A., CUMBI, R. & URBANO, F. (2010). Human-wildlife conflict in Mozambique: a national perspective, with emphasis on wildlife attacks on humans. Oryx 44(2), 185–193.
- DUNKER, K., SEPULVEA, A., MASSENGILL, R. & RUTZ, D. (2018). The northern pike, a prized native but disastrous invasive. In *Biology and Ecology of Pike* (eds C. SKOV and P. A. NILSSON), pp. 356–398. CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- ELINGS, J., BRUNEEL, S., PAUWELS, I. S., SCHNEIDER, M., KOPECKI, I., COECK, J., MAWER, R. & GOETHALS, P. L. M. (2024). Finding navigation cues near fishways. *Biological Reviews* 99(1), 313–327.
- ELLERY, W. N., DAHLBERG, A. C., STRYDOM, R., NEAL, M. J. & JACKSON, J. (2003). Diversion of water flow from a floodplain wetland stream: an analysis of geomorphological setting and hydrological and ecological consequences. *Journal* of Environmental Management 68(1), 51–71.
- ELSEY, R. M. (2006). Food habits of *Macrochelys temminckii* (alligator snapping turtle) from Arkansas and Louisiana. *Southeastern Naturalist* 5(3), 443–452.
- ERIKSSON, C. E., KANTEK, D. L. Z., MIYAZAKI, S. S., MORATO, R. G., DOS SANTOS-FILHO, M., RUPRECHT, J. S., PERES, C. A. & LEVI, T. (2022). Extensive aquatic subsidies lead to territorial breakdown and high density of an apex predator. *Ecology* 103(1), e03543.
- ESTES, J. A., HEITHAUS, M., MCCAULEY, D. J., RASHER, D. B. & WORM, B. (2016). Megafaunal impacts on structure and function of ocean ecosystems. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 41(1), 83–116.
- ESTES, J. A., TERBORGH, J., BRASHARES, J. S., POWER, M. E., BERGER, J., BOND, W. J., CARPENTER, S. R., ESSINGTON, T. E., HOLT, R. D., JACKSON, J. B. C., MARQUIS, R. J., OKSANEN, L., OKSANEN, T., PAINE, R. T., PIKITCH, E. K., *et al.* (2011). Trophic downgrading of planet Earth. *Science* 333(6040), 301–306.
- FAIRFAX, E. & WHITTLE, A. (2020). Smokey the Beaver: beaver-dammed riparian corridors stay green during wildfire throughout the western United States. *Ecological Applications* 30(8), e02225.
- FALCÓN, W., MOLL, D. & HANSEN, D. M. (2020). Frugivory and seed dispersal by chelonians: a review and synthesis. *Biological Reviews* 95(1), 142–166.
- FAURBY, S. & SVENNING, J.-C. (2015). Historic and prehistoric human-driven extinctions have reshaped global mammal diversity patterns. *Diversity and Distributions* 21(10), 1155–1166.
- FERREIRA JÚNIOR, P. D. & CASTRO, P. D. T. A. (2006). Geological characteristics of the nesting areas of the giant Amazon river turtle (*Podocnemis expansa*) in the Crixás-Açu river in Goiás State, Brazil. Acta Amazonica 36, 249–258.

- FINDLAY, D. L., VANNI, M. J., PATERSON, M., MILLS, K. H., KASIAN, S. E. M., FINDLAY, W. J. & SALKI, A. G. (2005). Dynamics of a boreal lake ecosystem during a long-term manipulation of top predators. *Ecosystems* 8(6), 603–618.
- FLECKER, A. S., MCINTYRE, P. B., MOORE, J. W., ANDERSON, J. T., TAYLOR, B. W. & HALL, R. O. JR. (2010). Migratory fishes as material and process subsidies in riverine ecosystems. *American Fisheries Society Symposium* 73, 559–592.
- FLITCROFT, R. L., ABELL, R., HARRISON, I., ARISMENDI, I. & PENALUNA, B. E. (2023). Making global targets local for freshwater protection. *Nature Sustainability* 6, 1499–1502. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-023-01193-7.
- FORERO-MEDINA, G., FERRARA, C. R., VOGT, R. C., FAGUNDES, C. K., BALESTRA, R. A. M., ANDRADE, P. C. M., LACAVA, R., BERNHARD, R., LIPMAN, A. J., LENZ, A. J., FERRER, A., CALLE, A., APONTE, A. F., CALLE-RENDÓN, B. R., SANTOS CAMILO, C., *et al.* (2021). On the future of the giant South American river turtle *Podocnemis expansa*. *Oryx* 55(1), 73–80.
- FRANCESCHINI, M. C., MURPHY, K. J., MOORE, I., KENNEDY, M. P., MARTÍNEZ, F. S., WILLEMS, F., DE WYSIECKI, M. L. & SICHINGABULA, H. (2020). Impacts on freshwater macrophytes produced by small invertebrate herbivores: Afrotropical and neotropical wetlands compared. *Hydrobiologia* 847(19), 3931–3950.
- FRASER, D. J. (2008). How well can captive breeding programs conserve biodiversity? A review of salmonids. *Evolutionary Applications* 1(4), 535–586.
- FREITAS, C. T., LOPES, P. F. M., CAMPOS-SILVA, J. V., NOBLE, M. M., DYBALL, R. & PERES, C. A. (2020). Co-management of culturally important species: a tool to promote biodiversity conservation and human well-being. *People and Nature* 2(1), 61–81.
- FRIEDRICH, T., REINARTZ, R. & GESSNER, J. (2019). Sturgeon re-introduction in the Upper and Middle Danube River Basin. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* 35(5), 1059– 1068.
- GAETA, J. W., AHRENSTORFF, T. D., DIANA, J. S., FETZER, W. W., JONES, T. S., LAWSON, Z. J., MCINERNY, M. C., SANTUCCI, V. J. JR. & VANDER ZANDEN, M. J. (2018). Go big or ... don't? A field-based diet evaluation of freshwater piscivore and prey fish size relationships. *PLoS One* **13**(3), e0194092.
- GALETTI, M., MOLEON, M., JORDANO, P., PIRES, M. M., GUIMARAES, P. R., PAPE, T., NICHOLS, E., HANSEN, D., OLESEN, J. M., MUNK, M., DE MATTOS, J. S., SCHWEIGER, A. H., OWEN-SMITH, N., JOHNSON, C. N., MARQUIS, R. J., *ET AL.* (2018). Ecological and evolutionary legacy of megafauna extinctions. *Biological Reviews* 93(2), 845–862.
- GALLAGHER, S. P. & GALLAGHER, C. M. (2005). Discrimination of chinook salmon, coho salmon, and steelhead redds and evaluation of the use of redd data for estimating escapement in several unregulated streams in Northern California. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 25(1), 284–300.
- GARCIA, S. M., KOLDING, J., RICE, J., ROCHET, M.-J., ZHOU, S., ARIMOTO, T., BEYER, J. E., BORGES, L., BUNDY, A., DUNN, D., FULTON, E. A., HALL, M., HEINO, M., LAW, R., MAKINO, M., RIJNSDORP, A. D., SIMARD, F. & SMITH, A. D. M. (2012). Reconsidering the consequences of selective fisheries. *Science* 335(6072), 1045–1047.
- GARCÍA-GRAJALES, J. & BUENROSTRO-SILVA, A. (2019). Assessment of humancrocodile conflict in Mexico: patterns, trends and hotspots areas. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 70(5), 708–720.
- GEIST, J., PORKKA, M. & KUEHN, R. (2006). The status of host fish populations and fish species richness in European freshwater pearl mussel (*Margaritifera margaritifera*) streams. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 16(3), 251–266.
- GENDE, S. M., EDWARDS, R. T., WILLSON, M. F. & WIPFLI, M. S. (2002). Pacific salmon in aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. *Bioscience* 52(10), 917–928.
- GOMEZ ISAZA, D. F., CRAMP, R. L. & FRANKLIN, C. E. (2022). Fire and rain: a systematic review of the impacts of wildfire and associated runoff on aquatic fauna. *Global Change Biology* 28(8), 2578–2595.
- GOODYEAR, C. P. (1967). Feeding habits of three species of gars, Lepisosteus, along the Mississippi Gulf coast. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 96(3), 297–300.
- GOTTESFELD, A. S., HASSAN, M. A. & TUNNICLIFFE, J. (2008). Salmon bioturbation and stream process. American Fisheries Society Symposium 65, 175–193.
- GREY, J. & HARPER, D. M. (2002). Using stable isotope analyses to identify allochthonous inputs to Lake Naivasha mediated via the *Hippopotamus* gut. *Isotopes* in *Environmental and Health Studies* 38(4), 245–250.
- GRIFFITH, P., LANG, J. W., TURVEY, S. T. & GUMBS, R. (2023). Using functional traits to identify conservation priorities for the world's crocodylians. *Functional Ecology* 37(1), 112–124.
- GRILL, G., LEHNER, B., THIEME, M., GEENEN, B., TICKNER, D., ANTONELLI, F., BABU, S., BORRELLI, P., CHENG, L., CROCHETIERE, H., MACEDO, H. E., FILGUEIRAS, R., GOICHOT, M., HIGGINS, J., HOGAN, Z., *ET AL.* (2019). Mapping the world's free-flowing rivers. *Nature* 569(7755), 215–221.
- GRUDZINSKI, B. P., CUMMINS, H. & VANG, T. K. (2020). Beaver canals and their environmental effects. Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment 44(2), 189–211.
- GRUDZINSKI, B. P., FRITZ, K., GOLDEN, H. E., NEWCOMER-JOHNSON, T. A., RECH, J. A., LEVY, J., FAIN, J., MCCARTY, J. L., JOHNSON, B., VANG, T. K. &

- GUTERRES-PAZIN, M. G., MARMONTEL, M., ROSAS, F. C., PAZIN, V. F. & VENTICINQUE, E. M. (2014). Feeding ecology of the Amazonian Manatee (*Trichechus inunguis*) in the Mamirauá and Amana sustainable development reserves, Brazil. *Aquatic Mammals* **40**(2), 139–149.
- HAASE, P., BOWLER, D. E., BAKER, N. J., BONADA, N., DOMISCH, S., GARCIA MARQUEZ, J. R., HEINO, J., HERING, D., JÄHNIG, S. C., SCHMIDT-KLOIBER, A., STUBBINGTON, R., ALTERMATT, F., ÁLVAREZ-CABRIA, M., AMATULLI, G., ANGELER, D. G., *ET AL.* (2023). The recovery of European freshwater biodiversity has come to a halt. *Nature* 620(7974), 582–588.
- HALLEY, D. J. & ROSELL, F. (2002). The beaver's reconquest of Eurasia: status, population development and management of a conservation success. *Mammal Review* 32(3), 153–178.
- HALLEY, D. J., SAVELJEV, A. P. & ROSELL, F. (2021). Population and distribution of beavers *Castor fiber* and *Castor canadensis* in Eurasia. *Mannual Review* 51(1), 1–24.
- HALLMAN, T. A., ROBINSON, W. D., CURTIS, J. R. & ALVERSON, E. R. (2021). Building a better baseline to estimate 160 years of avian population change and create historically informed conservation targets. *Conservation Biology* 35(4), 1256– 1267.
- HAMMERSCHLAG, N., SCHMITZ, O. J., FLECKER, A. S., LAFFERTY, K. D., SIH, A., ATWOOD, T. B., GALLAGHER, A. J., IRSCHICK, D. J., SKUBEL, R. & COOKE, S. J. (2019). Ecosystem function and services of aquatic predators in the anthropocene. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 34(4), 369–383.
- HARRISON, M. E., KALINDEKAFE, M. P. & BANDA, B. (2008). The ecology of the hippopotamus in Liwonde National Park, Malawi: implications for management. *African Journal of Ecology* 46(4), 507–514.
- HE, F., BREMERICH, V., ZARFL, C., GELDMANN, J., LANGHANS, S. D., DAVID, J. N. W., DARWALL, W., TOCKNER, K. & JÄHNIG, S. C. (2018). Freshwater megafauna diversity: patterns, status and threats. *Diversity and Distributions* 24(10), 1395–1404.
- HE, F., JÄHNIG, S. C., WETZIG, A. & LANGHANS, S. D. (2021a). More exposure opportunities for promoting freshwater conservation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 31(12), 3626–3635.
- HE, F., THIEME, M., ZARFL, C., GRILL, G., LEHNER, B., HOGAN, Z., TOCKNER, K. & JÄHNIG, S. C. (2021b). Impacts of loss of free-flowing rivers on global freshwater megafauna. *Biological Conservation* 263, 109335.
- HE, F., ZARFL, C., BREMERICH, V., DAVID, J. N. W., HOGAN, Z., KALINKAT, G., TOCKNER, K. & JÄHNIG, S. C. (2019). The global decline of freshwater megafauna. *Global Change Biology* 25(11), 3883–3892.
- HE, F., ZARFL, C., BREMERICH, V., HENSHAW, A., DARWALL, W., TOCKNER, K. & JÄHNIG, S. C. (2017). Disappearing giants: a review of threats to freshwater megafauna. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water* 4(3), e1208.
- HERMOSO, V. (2017). Freshwater ecosystems could become the biggest losers of the Paris agreement. *Global Change Biology* 23, 3433–3436.
- HICKLEY, P. & CHARE, S. (2004). Fisheries for non-native species in England and Wales: angling or the environment? *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 11(3–4), 203–212.
- HILL, A. R. & DUVAL, T. P. (2009). Beaver dams along an agricultural stream in southern Ontario, Canada: their impact on riparian zone hydrology and nitrogen chemistry. *Hydrological Processes* 23(9), 1324–1336.
- HOCKING, M. D. & REYNOLDS, J. D. (2011). Impacts of salmon on riparian plant diversity. *Science* **331**(6024), 1609–1612.
- HOGAN, Z. S. (2011). Ecology and conservation of large-bodied freshwater catfish: a global perspective. American Fisheries Society Symposium 77, 39–53.
- HOOD, G. A. & LARSON, D. G. (2015). Ecological engineering and aquatic connectivity: a new perspective from beaver-modified wetlands. *Freshwater Biology* 60(1), 198–208.
- HUANG, S., YOSHITAKE, K., WATABE, S. & ASAKAWA, S. (2022). Environmental DNA study on aquatic ecosystem monitoring and management: recent advances and prospects. *Journal of Environmental Management* 323, 116310.
- HUANG, S.-L., HAO, Y., MEI, Z., TURVEY, S. T. & WANG, D. (2012). Common pattern of population decline for freshwater cetacean species in deteriorating habitats. *Freshwater Biology* 57(6), 1266–1276.
- HUANG, Z. & WANG, L. (2018). Yangtze dams increasingly threaten the survival of the Chinese sturgeon. *Current Biology* 28(22), 3640–3647.e18.
- HUMPHRIES, P. & WINEMILLER, K. O. (2009). Historical impacts on river fauna, shifting baselines, and challenges for restoration. *Bioscience* 59(8), 673–684.
- IUCN [INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR CONSERVATION OF NATURE] (2022). The IUCN red list of threatened species. Version 2022-1. https://www.iucnredlist.org.
- JENSEN, K. A. & DAS, I. (2008). Dietary observations on the Asian softshell turtle (Anyda cartilaginea) from Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 7(1), 136–141.
- JONES, B. M., TAPE, K. D., CLARK, J. A., NITZE, I., GROSSE, G. & DISBROW, J. (2020). Increase in beaver dams controls surface water and thermokarst dynamics in an Arctic tundra region, Baldwin Peninsula, northwestern Alaska. *Environmental Research Letters* 15(7), 075005.

- KALINKAT, G., CABRAL, J. S., DARWALL, W., FICETOLA, G. F., FISHER, J. L., GILING, D. P., GOSSELIN, M. P., GROSSART, H. P., JÄHNIG, S. C., JESCHKE, J. M., KNOPF, K., LARSEN, S., ONANDIA, G., PATZIG, M., SAUL, W. C., *ET AL.* (2017). Flagship umbrella species needed for the conservation of overlooked aquatic biodiversity. *Conservation Biology* **31**(2), 481–485.
- KAMINSKAS, S. & HUMPHRIES, P. (2009). Diet of Murray cod (Maccullochella peelii peelii) (Mitchell) larvae in an Australian lowland river in low flow and high flow years. Hydrobiologia 636(1), 449–461.
- KANGA, E. M., OGUTU, J. O., PIEPHO, H.-P. & OLFF, H. (2012). Human-hippo conflicts in Kenya during 1997-2008: vulnerability of a megaherbivore to anthropogenic land use changes. *Journal of Land Use Science* 7(4), 395–406.
- KAWAMICHI, T. & UEDA, H. (1998). Spawning at nests of extra-large males in the giant salamander Andrias japonicus. Journal of Herpetology 32(1), 133–136.
- KEITH-DIAGNE, L. W., DE LARRINOA, P. F., DIAGNE, T. & GONZALEZ, L. M. (2021). First satellite tracking of the African manatee (*Trichechus senegalensis*) and movement patterns in the Senegal River. Aquatic Manmals 47(1), 21–29.
- KIANI, A., CLAUSS, M., ORTMANN, S., VENDL, C., CONGDON, E. R., HERRERA, E. A., KREUZER, M. & SCHWARM, A. (2019). Digestive physiology of captive capybara (*Hydrochoerus hydrochaeris*). *Zoo Biology* 38(2), 167–179.
- KOCHALSKI, S., RIEPE, C., FUJITANI, M., AAS, O. & ARLINGHAUS, R. (2019). Public perception of river fish biodiversity in four European countries. *Conservation Biology* 33(1), 164–175.
- KOHLER, A. E., KUSNIERZ, P. C., COPELAND, T., VENDITTI, D. A., DENNY, L., GABLE, J., LEWIS, B. A., KINZER, R., BARNETT, B., WIPFLI, M. S. & KARLSSON, J. (2013). Salmon-mediated nutrient flux in selected streams of the Columbia River basin, USA. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **70**(3), 502–512.
- LARSEN, A., LARSEN, J. R. & LANE, S. N. (2021). Dam builders and their works: beaver influences on the structure and function of river corridor hydrology, geomorphology, biogeochemistry and ecosystems. *Earth-Science Reviews* 218, 103623.
- LAW, A., JONES, K. C. & WILLBY, N. J. (2014). Medium vs. short-term effects of herbivory by Eurasian beaver on aquatic vegetation. *Aquatic Botany* 116, 27–34.
- LAW, A., MCLEAN, F. & WILLBY, N. J. (2016). Habitat engineering by beaver benefits aquatic biodiversity and ecosystem processes in agricultural streams. *Freshwater Biology* 61(4), 486–499.
- LAZZARO, X. (1987). A review of planktivorous fishes: their evolution, feeding behaviours, selectivities, and impacts. *Hydrobiologia* 146(2), 97–167.
- LINTERMANS, M., ROWLAND, S., KOEHN, J., BUTLER, G., SIMPSON, B. & WOODEN, I. (2005). The status, threats and management of freshwater cod species *Maccullochella* spp. in Australia. In *Management of Murray cod in the Murray-Darling Basin: Statement, Recommendations and Supporting Papers* (eds M. LINTERMANS and B. PHILLIPS). Murray-Darling Basin Commission, Canberra.
- LOCH, C., MARMONTEL, M. & SIMÕES-LOPES, P. C. (2009). Conflicts with fisheries and intentional killing of freshwater dolphins (Cetacea: Odontoceti) in the Western Brazilian Amazon. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 18(14), 3979–3988.
- LORIMER, J., SANDOM, C., JEPSON, P., DOUGHTY, C., BARUA, M. & KIRBY, K. J. (2015). Rewilding: science, practice, and politics. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 40(1), 39–62.
- LUO, Q., TONG, F., SONG, Y., WANG, H., DU, M. & JI, H. (2018). Observation of the breeding behavior of the Chinese Giant Salamander (*Andrias davidianus*) using a digital monitoring system. *Animals* 8(10), 161.
- LYNCH, A. J., COOKE, S. J., ARTHINGTON, A. H., BAIGUN, C., BOSSENBROEK, L., DICKENS, C., HARRISON, I., KIMIREI, I., LANGHANS, S. D., MURCHIE, K. J., OLDEN, J. D., ORMEROD, S. J., OWUOR, M., RAGHAVAN, R., SAMWAYS, M. J., *ET AL.* (2023). People need freshwater biodiversity. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water* 10(3), e1633.
- MAGNUSSON, W. E., DA SILVA, E. V. & LIMA, A. P. (1987). Diets of Amazonian crocodilians. *Journal of Herpetology* 21(2), 85–95.
- MAGNUSSON, W. E. & TAYLOR, J. A. (1982). Wallows of Crocodylus porosus as dry season refuges in swamps. *Copeia* 1982(2), 478–480.
- MAJEROVA, M., NEILSON, B. T., SCHMADEL, N. M., WHEATON, J. M. & SNOW, C. J. (2015). Impacts of beaver dams on hydrologic and temperature regimes in a mountain stream. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* **19**(8), 3541–3556.
- MALHI, Y., DOUGHTY, C., GALETTI, M., SMITH, F., SVENNING, J.-C. & TERBORGH, J. (2016). Megafauna and ecosystem function from the Pleistocene to the Anthropocene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113(4), 838–846.
- MALHI, Y., LANDER, T., LE ROUX, E., STEVENS, N., MACIAS-FAURIA, M., WEDDING, L., GIRARDIN, C., KRISTENSEN, J. Å., SANDOM, C. J., EVANS, T. D., SVENNING, J.-C. & CANNEY, S. (2022). The role of large wild animals in climate change mitigation and adaptation. *Current Biology* 32(4), R181–R196.
- MAMMOLA, S., RICCARDI, N., PRIÉ, V., CORREIA, R., CARDOSO, P., LOPES-LIMA, M. & SOUSA, R. (2020). Towards a taxonomically unbiased European Union biodiversity strategy for 2030. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 287(1940), 20202166.

- MANDAL, R., DATTA, A., SARANGI, N. & MUKHOPADHYAY, P. (2010). Diversity of aquatic macrophytes as food and feed components to herbivorous fish a review. *Indian Journal Of Fisheries* 57(3), 65–73.
- MARIONI, B., BARAO-NÓBREGA, J. A. L., BOTERO-ARIAS, R., MUNIZ, F., CAMPOS, Z., DA SILVEIRA, R., MAGNUSSON, W. E. & VILLAMARÍN, F. (2021). Science and conservation of Amazonian crocodilians: a historical review. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 31(5), 1056–1067.
- MAROWA, I., MATANZIMA, J. & NHIWATIWA, T. (2021). Interactions between humans, crocodiles, and hippos at Lake Kariba, Zimbabwe. *Human-Wildlife Interactions* 15(1), 212–227.
- MATVEYEV, A. N., PRONIN, N. M., SAMUSENOK, V. P. & BRONTE, C. R. (1998). Ecology of Siberian taimen Hucho taimen in the Lake Baikal Basin. Journal of Great Lakes Research 24(4), 905–916.
- MCADAM, S. O., CROSSMAN, J. A., WILLIAMSON, C., ST-ONGE, I., DION, R., MANNY, B. A. & GESSNER, J. (2018). If you build it, will they come? Spawning habitat remediation for sturgeon. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* 34(2), 258–278.
- MCCARTHY, T. S., ELLERY, W. N. & BLOEM, A. (1998). Some observations on the geomorphological impact of hippopotamus (*Hippopotamus amphibius* L.) in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *African Journal of Ecology* 36(1), 44–56.
- MEDO, A., NISHIZAWA, H., YOKOYAMA, A., KUME, M., MITSUNAGA, Y., ARAI, N., YAMANE, H., IKEYA, K., VIPUTHANUMAS, T. & MITAMURA, H. (2020). Gut morphometry represents diet preference to indigestible materials in the largest freshwater fish, Mekong giant catfish (*Pangasianodon gigas*). *Zoological Science* 37(5), 444–449.
- MEENTEMEYER, R. K. & BUTLER, D. R. (1999). Hydrogeomorphic effects of beaver dams in Glacier National Park, Montana. *Physical Geography* 20(5), 436–446.
- MEENTEMEYER, R. K., VOGLER, J. B., HILL, C. & BUTLER, D. (1998). The geomorphic influences of burrowing beavers on streambanks, Bolin Creek, North Carolina. Zeitschrift für Geomorphologie 42, 453–468.
- MILLER, M. J. (2004). The ecology and functional morphology of feeding of North American sturgeon and paddlefish. In *Sturgeons and Paddlefish of North America* (eds G. T. O. LEBRETON, F. W. H. BEAMISH and R. S. MCKINLEY), pp. 87–102. Springer, Dordrecht.
- MIRANDA, E. B. P., RIBEIRO-JR, R. P., CAMERA, B. F., BARROS, M., DRAQUE, J., MICUCCI, P., WALLER, T. & STRÜSSMANN, C. (2017). Penny and penny laid up will be many: large yellow anacondas do not disregard small prey. *Journal of Zoology* 301(4), 301–309.
- MIYASAKA, H., DZYUBA, Y. V., GENKAI-KATO, M., ITO, S., KOHZU, A., ANOSHKO, P. N., KHANAYEV, I. V., SHUBENKOV, S. G., MELNIK, N. G., TIMOSHKIN, O. A. & WADA, E. (2006). Feeding ecology of two planktonic sculpins, *Comephorus baicalensis* and *Comephorus dybowskii* (Comephoridae), in Lake Baikal. *Ichthyological Research* 53(4), 419–422.
- MODESTO, V., ILARRI, M., SOUZA, A. T., LOPES-LIMA, M., DOUDA, K., CLAVERO, M. & SOUSA, R. (2018). Fish and mussels: importance of fish for freshwater mussel conservation. *Fish and Fisheries* 19(2), 244–259.
- MOLDOWAN, P. D., LAVERTY, T. M., EMMANS, C. J. & STANLEY, R. C. (2016). Diet, gastric parasitism, and injuries of caimans (*Caiman, Melanosuchus*, and *Paleosuchus*) in the Peruvian Amazon. South American Journal of Herpetology 11(3), 176–182.
- MOLEÓN, M., SÁNCHEZ-ZAPATA, J. Á., DONÁZAR, J. A., REVILLA, E., MARTÍN-LÓPEZ, B., GUTIÉRREZ-CÁNOVAS, C., GETZ, W. M., MORALES-REYES, Z., CAMPOS-ARCEIZ, A., CROWDER, L. B., GALETTI, M., GONZÁLEZ-SUÁREZ, M., HE, F., JORDANO, P., LEWISON, R., *ET AL.* (2020). Rethinking megafauna. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 287(1922), 20192643.
- MOLL, D. & MOLL, E. O. (2004). The Ecology, Exploitation and Conservation of River Turtles. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- MOORE, J. W. (2006). Animal ecosystem engineers in streams. Bioscience 56(3), 237-246.
- MOORE, J. W., HAYES, S. A., DUFFY, W., GALLAGHER, S., MICHEL, C. J. & WRIGHT, D. (2011). Nutrient fluxes and the recent collapse of coastal California salmon populations. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **68**(7), 1161–1170.
- MOORE, M. V., HAMPTON, S. E., IZMEST'EVA, L. R., SILOW, E. A., PESHKOVA, E. V. & PAVLOV, B. K. (2009). Climate change and the world's "sacred sea"-Lake Baikal, Siberia. *Bioscience* 59(5), 405–417.
- MOSEPELE, K., MOYLE, P. B., MERRON, G. S., PURKEY, D. R. & MOSEPELE, B. (2009). Fish, floods, and ecosystem engineers: aquatic conservation in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Bioscience* 59(1), 53–64.
- Moss, B. (2015). Mammals, freshwater reference states, and the mitigation of climate change. *Freshwater Biology* **60**(9), 1964–1976.
- *MURPHY, J. C. (2020). Giant snake-human relationships. In Problematic Wildlife II: New Conservation and Management Challenges in the Human-Wildlife Interactions (eds F. M. ANGELICI and L. ROSSI), pp. 581–602. Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- NAIMAN, R. J., BILBY, R. E., SCHINDLER, D. E. & HELFIELD, J. M. (2002). Pacific salmon, nutrients, and the dynamics of freshwater and riparian ecosystems. *Ecosystems* 5(4), 399–417.
- NAIMAN, R. J., JOHNSTON, C. A. & KELLEY, J. C. (1988). Alteration of North American streams by beaver: the structure and dynamics of streams are changing as beaver recolonize their historic habitat. *Bioscience* 38(11), 753–762.

- NAIMAN, R. J. & ROGERS, K. H. (1997). Large animals and system-level characteristics in river corridors. *Bioscience* 47(8), 521–529.
- NATHAN, R., MONK, C. T., ARLINGHAUS, R., ADAM, T., ALÓS, J., ASSAF, M., BAKTOFT, H., BEARDSWORTH, C. E., BERTRAM, M. G., BIJLEVELD, A. I., BRODIN, T., BROOKS, J. L., CAMPOS-CANDELA, A., COOKE, S. J., GJELLAND, K. Ø., *ET AL.* (2022). Big-data approaches lead to an increased understanding of the ecology of animal movement. *Science* **375**(6582), eabg1780.
- NDAWULA, J., TWEHEYO, M., TUMUSIIME, D. M. & EILU, G. (2011). Understanding sitatunga (*Tragelaphus spekii*) habitats through diet analysis in Rushebeya-Kanyabaha wetland, Uganda. *African Journal of Ecology* **49**(4), 481–489.
- NICO, L., WILLIAMS, J. & HEROD, J. (2001). Black Carp (Mylopharyngodon piceus): A Biological Synopsis and Updated Risk Assessment – Report Submitted to the Risk Assessment and Management Committee of the Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force. Florida Caribbean Science Center, United States Geological Survey, Gainesville.
- NOBLE, M., DUNCAN, P., PERRY, D., PROSPER, K., ROSE, D., SCHNIERER, S., TIPA, G., WILLIAMS, E., WOODS, R. & PITTOCK, J. (2016). Culturally significant fisheries: keystones for management of freshwater social-ecological systems. *Ecology* and Society 21(2), 22.
- NUMMI, P., VEHKAOJA, M., PUMPANEN, J. & OJALA, A. (2018). Beavers affect carbon biogcochemistry: both short-term and long-term processes are involved. *Mammal Review* 48(4), 298–311.
- NYBOER, E. A., LIN, H.-Y., BENNETT, J. R., GABRIEL, J., TWARDEK, W., CHHOR, A. D., DALY, L., DOLSON, S., GUITARD, E., HOLDER, P., MOZZON, C. M., TRAHAN, A., ZIMMERMANN, D., KESNER-REVES, K., GARILAO, C., *ET AL.* (2021). Global assessment of marine and freshwater recreational fish reveals mismatch in climate change vulnerability and conservation effort. *Global Change Biology* 27(19), 4799–4824.
- OKADA, S., UTSUNOMIYA, T., OKADA, T., FELIX, Z. I. & ITO, F. (2008). Characteristics of Japanese giant salamander (*Andrias japonicus*) populations in two small tributary streams in Hiroshima prefecture, western Honshu, Japan. *Herpetological Conservation and Biology* 3(2), 192–202.
- OLIVEIRA, V. D., POLETO, S. L. & VENERE, P. C. (2005). Feeding of juvenile pirarucu (Arapaima gigas, Arapaimidae) in their natural environment, lago Quatro Bocas, Araguaiana-MT, Brazil. Neotropical Ichthyology **3**, 312–314.
- OWEN-SMITH, R. N. (1988). Megaherbivores: The Influence of Very Large Body Size on Ecology. Cambridge University press, Cambridge.
- PALMER, M. L. & MAZZOTTI, F. J. (2004). Structure of everglades alligator holes. Wetlands 24(1), 115–122.
- PASCUAL-RICO, R., MORALES-REYES, Z., AGUILERA-ALCALÁ, N., OLSZAŃSKA, A., SEBASTIÁN-GONZÁLEZ, E., NAIDOO, R., MOLEÓN, M., LOZANO, J., BOTELLA, F., VON WEHRDEN, H., MARTÍN-LÓPEZ, B. & SÁNCHEZ-ZAPATA, J. A. (2021). Usually hated, sometimes loved: a review of wild ungulates' contributions to people. *Science of the Total Environment* 801, 149652.
- PENDLETON, R. M., SCHWINGHAMER, C., SOLOMON, L. E. & CASPER, A. F. (2017). Competition among river planktivores: are native planktivores still fewer and skinnier in response to the silver carp invasion? *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 100(10), 1213–1222.
- PERINO, A., PEREIRA, H. M., NAVARRO, L. M., FERNÁNDEZ, N., BULLOCK, J. M., CEAUŞU, S., CORTÉS-AVIZANDA, A., VAN KLINK, R., KUEMMERLE, T., LOMBA, A., PE'ER, G., PLIENINGER, T., REY BENAYAS, J. M., SANDOM, C. J., SVENNING, J.-C. & WHEELER, H. C. (2019). Rewilding complex ecosystems. *Science* 364(6438), eaav5570.
- PETRERE, M., BARTHEM, R. B., CÓRDOBA, E. A. & GÓMEZ, B. C. (2004). Review of the large catfish fisheries in the upper Amazon and the stock depletion of piraíba (*Brachyplatystoma filamentosum* Lichtenstein). *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 14(4), 403–414.
- PILOWSKY, J. A., HAYTHORNE, S., BROWN, S. C., KRAPP, M., ARMSTRONG, E., BROOK, B. W., RAHBEK, C. & FORDHAM, D. A. (2022). Range and extinction dynamics of the steppe bison in Siberia: a pattern-oriented modelling approach. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **31**(12), 2483–2497.
- PIPALOVA, I. (2006). A review of grass carp use for aquatic weed control and its impact on water bodies. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* 44(1), 1–12.
- POOLEY, S., SIROSKI, P. A., FERNANDEZ, L., SIDELEAU, B. & PONCE-CAMPOS, P. (2021). Human-crocodilian interactions in Latin America and the Caribbean region. *Conservation Science and Practice* 3(5), e351.
- POULSEN, A. F., HORTLE, K., VALBO-JORGENSEN, J., CHAN, S., CHHUON, C., VIRAVONG, S., BOUAKHAMVONGSA, K., SUNTORNRATANA, U., YOORONG, N. & NGUYEN, T. (2004). Distribution and ecology of some important riverine fish species of the Mekong River Basin. In *MRC Technical Paper No. 10* (eds K. HORTLE, S. BOOTH and T. VISSER). Mekong River Commission, Vientiane.
- POWER, M. E., TILMAN, D., ESTES, J. A., MENGE, B. A., BOND, W. J., MILLS, L. S., DAILY, G., CASTILLA, J. C., LUBCHENCO, J. & PAINE, R. T. (1996). Challenges in the quest for keystones. *Bioscience* 46(8), 609–620.
- PUNZO, F. (1975). Studies on the feeding behavior, diet, nesting habits and temperature relationships of *Chelydra serpentina osceola* (Chelonia: Chelydridae). *Journal of Herpetology* 9(2), 207–210.

PUTTOCK, A., GRAHAM, H. A., ASHE, J., LUSCOMBE, D. J. & BRAZIER, R. E. (2021). Beaver dams attenuate flow: a multi-site study. *Hydrological Processes* 35(2), e14017.

- PUTTOCK, A., GRAHAM, H. A., CUNLIFFE, A. M., ELLIOTT, M. & BRAZIER, R. E. (2017). Eurasian beaver activity increases water storage, attenuates flow and mitigates diffuse pollution from intensively-managed grasslands. *Science of the Total Environment* 576, 430–443.
- QUÉMÉRÉ, E., AUCOURD, M., TROISPOUX, V., BROSSE, S., MURIENNE, J., COVAIN, R., LE BAIL, P.-Y., OLIVIER, J., TYSKLIND, N. & GALAN, M. (2021). Unraveling the dietary diversity of neotropical top predators using scat DNA metabarcoding: a case study on the clusive Giant Otter. *Environmental DNA* 3(5), 889–900.
- RIDEOUT, N. K., WEGSCHEIDER, B., KATTILAKOSKI, M., MCGEE, K. M., MONK, W. A. & BAIRD, D. J. (2021). Rewilding watersheds: using nature's algorithms to fix our broken rivers. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 72(8), 1118–1124.
- RIPPLE, W. J., ESTES, J. A., BESCHTA, R. L., WILMERS, C. C., RITCHIE, E. G., HEBBLEWHITE, M., BERGER, J., ELMHAGEN, B., LETNIC, M. & NELSON, M. P. (2014). Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. *Science* 343(6167), 1241484.
- RIPPLE, W. J., WOLF, C., NEWSOME, T. M., BETTS, M. G., CEBALLOS, G., COURCHAMP, F., HAYWARD, M. W., VAN VALKENBURGH, B., WALLACH, A. D. & WORM, B. (2019). Are we eating the world's megafauna to extinction? *Conservation Letters* 12(3), e12627.
- ROBERTS, T. R. (1983). Revision of the South and Southeast Asian sisorid catfish genus Bagarius, with description of a new species from the Mckong. Copeia 1983(2), 435–445.
- ROSAS-RIBEIRO, P. F., ROSAS, F. C. W. & ZUANON, J. (2012). Conflict between fishermen and giant otters *Pteronura brasiliensis* in Western Brazilian Amazon. *Biotropica* 44(3), 437–444.
- ROSENBLATT, A. E. & HEITHAUS, M. R. (2011). Does variation in movement tactics and trophic interactions among American alligators create habitat linkages? *Journal* of Animal Ecology 80(4), 786–798.
- ROSENBLATT, A. E., NIFONG, J. C., HEITHAUS, M. R., MAZZOTTI, F. J., CHERKISS, M. S., JEFFERY, B. M., ELSEY, R. M., DECKER, R. A., SILLIMAN, B. R., GUILLETTE, L. J., LOWERS, R. H. & LARSON, J. C. (2015). Factors affecting individual foraging specialization and temporal diet stability across the range of a large "generalist" apex predator. *Oecologia* 178(1), 5–16.
- ROWLAND, S. J. (2005). Overview of the history, fishery, biology and aquaculture of Murray cod (Maccullochella peelii peelii). In Management of Murray Cod in the Murray Darling Basin: Statement, Recommendations, and Supporting Papers (eds M. LINTERMANS and B. PHILLIPS), pp. 38–61. Murray-Darling Basin Commission, Canberra.
- RU, H. & LIU, X. (2013). River-lake migration of fishes in the Dongting lake area of the Yangtze floodplain. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* 29(3), 594–601.
- SAMWAYS, K. M., QUIÑONES-RIVERA, Z. J., LEAVITT, P. R. & CUNJAK, R. A. (2015). Spatiotemporal responses of algal, fungal, and bacterial biofilm communities in Atlantic rivers receiving marine-derived nutrient inputs. *Freshwater Science* 34(3), 881–896.
- SCHEUERELL, M. D., LEVIN, P. S., ZABEL, R. W., WILLIAMS, J. G. & SANDERSON, B. L. (2005). A new perspective on the importance of marinederived nutrients to threatened stocks of Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus spp.*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62(5), 961–964.
- SCHOELYNCK, J., SUBALUSKY, A. L., STRUYF, E., DUTTON, C. L., UNZUÉ-BELMONTE, D., VIJVER, B. V. D., POST, D. M., ROSI, E. J., MEIRE, P. & FRINGS, P. (2019). Hippos (*Hippopotamus amphibius*): the animal silicon pump. *Science Advances* 5(5), eaav0395.
- SHEN, R., GU, X., CHEN, H., MAO, Z., ZENG, Q. & JEPPESEN, E. (2021). Silver carp (*Hypophthalmichthys molitrix*) stocking promotes phytoplankton growth by suppression of zooplankton rather than through nutrient recycling: an outdoor mesocosm study. *Freshwater Biology* **66**(6), 1074–1088.
- SHIBUYA, A., ARAÚJO, M. D. & ZUANON, J. A. (2009). Analysis of stomach contents of freshwater stingrays (Elasmobranchii, Potamotrygonidae) from the middle Negro River, Amazonas, Brazil. *Pan-American Journal of Aquatic Sciences* 4(4), 466–475.
- SHIRLEY, M. H., BURTNER, B., OSLISLY, R., SEBAG, D. & TESTA, O. (2017). Diet and body condition of cave-dwelling dwarf crocodiles (Osteolaemus tetraspis, Cope 1861) in Gabon. African Journal of Ecology 55(4), 411–422.
- SHRESTHA, T. K., HECKER, L. J., ARYAL, A. & COOGAN, S. C. P. (2020). Feeding preferences and nutritional niche of wild water buffalo (*Bubalus arnee*) in Koshi Tappu wildlife reserve, Nepal. *Ecology and Evolution* 10(14), 6897–6905.
- SILOW, E. A., GURMAN, V. J., STOM, D. J., ROSENRAUKH, D. M. & BATURIN, V. I. (1995). Mathematical models of Lake Baikal ecosystem. *Ecological Modelling* 82(1), 27–39.
- SIMPSON, R. & JACKSON, P. (2000). The Mary River Cod Research and Recovery Plan. Queensland Department of Primary Industries-Fisheries Group, Brisbane.
- SLOAN, K., BUHLMANN, K. & LOVICH, J. (1996). Stomach contents of commercially harvested adult alligator snapping turtles, *Macroclemys temminckii*. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 2(1), 96–99.
- SOLÉ, R. V. & MONTOYA, M. (2001). Complexity and fragility in ecological networks. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 268(1480), 2039–2045.

- SOLER, J., BOISNEAU, C., JUGÉ, P., RICHARD, N., GUEREZ, Y., MORISSEAU, L., WANTZEN, K. M. & ARAUJO, R. (2019). An unexpected host for the endangered giant freshwater pearl mussel *Margaritifera auricularia* (Spengler, 1793) as a conservation tool. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 29(10), 1758–1770.
- SOMAWEERA, R., BRIEN, M. L., PLATT, S. G., MANOLIS, C. & WEBBER, B. L. (2019). Direct and indirect interactions with vegetation shape crocodylian ecology at multiple scales. *Freshwater Biology* 64(2), 257–268.
- SOMAWEERA, R., NIFONG, J., ROSENBLATT, A., BRIEN, M. L., COMBRINK, X., ELSEY, R. M., GRIGG, G., MAGNUSSON, W. E., MAZZOTTI, F. J., PEARCY, A., PLATT, S. G., SHIRLEY, M. H., TELLEZ, M., VAN DER PLOEG, J., WEBB, G., *ET AL.* (2020). The ecological importance of crocodylians: towards evidence-based justification for their conservation. *Biological Reviews* 95(4), 936–959.
- SONG, M. (1994). Food habitat of great salamander of China. Chinese Journal of Zoology 4, 38–41.
- STEARS, K., MCCAULEY, D. J., FINLAY, J. C., MPEMBA, J., WARRINGTON, I. T., MUTAYOBA, B. M., POWER, M. E., DAWSON, T. E. & BRASHARES, J. S. (2018). Effects of the hippopotamus on the chemistry and ecology of a changing watershed. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(22), E5028–E5037.
- STRICKLAND, B. A., FLOOD, P. J., KLINE, J. L., MAZZOTTI, F. J., HEITHAUS, M. R. & TREXLER, J. C. (2023). An apex predator engineers wetland food-web heterogeneity through nutrient enrichment and habitat modification. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 92(7), 1388–1403.
- STUART, A. J. (2015). Late quaternary megafaunal extinctions on the continents: a short review. *Geological Journal* 50(3), 338–363.
- SUBALUSKY, A. L., DUTTON, C. L., ROSI, E. J. & POST, D. M. (2017). Annual mass drownings of the Serengeti wildebeest migration influence nutrient cycling and storage in the Mara River. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114(29), 7647–7652.
- SUBALUSKY, A. L., DUTTON, C. L., ROSI-MARSHALL, E. J. & POST, D. M. (2015). The hippopotamus conveyor belt: vectors of carbon and nutrients from terrestrial grasslands to aquatic systems in sub-Saharan Africa. *Freshwater Biology* **60**(3), 512–525.
- SUBALUSKY, A. L., SETHI, S. A., ANDERSON, E. P., JIMÉNEZ, G., ECHEVERRI-LOPEZ, D., GARCÍA-RESTREPO, S., NOVA-LEÓN, L. J., REÁTIGA-PARRISH, J. F., POST, D. M. & ROJAS, A. (2023). Rapid population growth and high management costs have created a narrow window for control of introduced hippos in Colombia. *Scientific Reports* 13(1), 6193.
- SVENNING, J.-C., FLØJGAARD, C., MARSKE, K. A., NÓGUES–BRAVO, D. & NORMAND, S. (2011). Applications of species distribution modeling to paleobiology. *Quaternary Science Reviews* **30**(21), 2930–2947.
- SVENNING, J.-C., PEDERSEN, P. B. M., DONLAN, C. J., EJRNæS, R., FAURBY, S., GALETTI, M., HANSEN, D. M., SANDEL, B., SANDOM, C. J., TERBORGH, J. W. & VERA, F. W. M. (2016). Science for a wilder Anthropocene: synthesis and future directions for trophic rewilding research. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113(4), 898–906.
- TAKOUKAM KAMLA, A., GOMES, D. G. E., BECK, C. A., KEITH-DIAGNE, L. W., HUNTER, M. E., FRANCIS-FLOYD, R. & BONDE, R. K. (2021). Diet composition of the African manatee: spatial and temporal variation within the Sanaga River watershed, Cameroon. *Ecology and Evolution* 11(22), 15833–15845.
- TELLEZ, M. (2014). A Checklist of Host-Parasite Interactions of the Order Crocodylia. University of California Press, Los Angeles, California.
- TERRY, J., TAGUCHI, Y., DIXON, J., KUWABARA, K. & TAKAHASHI, M. K. (2019). Preoviposition paternal care in a fully aquatic giant salamander: nest cleaning by a den master. *Journal of Zoology* 307(1), 36–42.
- THOMAS, O. & ALLAIN, S. (2021). Review of prey taken by anacondas (Squamata, Boidae: *Eunectes*). *Reptiles & Amphibians* 28(2), 329–334.
- THORBJARNARSON, J. & WANG, X. (2010). The Chinese Alligator: Ecology, Behavior, Conservation, and Culture. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- THORBJARNARSON, J. B. (1993). Fishing behavior of spectacled caiman in the Venezuelan Llanos. *Copeia* 1993(4), 1166–1171.
- TOMAS, W. M. & SALIS, S. M. (2000). Diet of the marsh deer (Blastocerus dichotomus) in the Pantanal wetland, Brazil. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment 35(3), 165–172.
- TURVEY, S. T., BARRETT, L. A., HAO, Y. J., ZHANG, L., ZHANG, X. Q., WANG, X. Y., HUANG, Y. D., ZHOU, K. Y., HART, T. & WANG, D. (2010a). Rapidly shifting baselines in Yangtze fishing communities and local memory of extinct species. *Conservation Biology* 24(3), 778–787.
- TURVEY, S. T., BARRETT, L. A., HART, T., COLLEN, B., YUJIANG, H., LEI, Z., XINQIAO, Z., XIANYAN, W., YADONG, H., KAIYA, Z. & DING, W. (2010b). Spatial and temporal extinction dynamics in a freshwater cetacean. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 277(1697), 3139–3147.
- *UTETE, B. (2020). A review of some aspects of the ecology, population trends, threats and conservation strategies for the common hippopotamus, *Hippopotamus amphibius* L, in Zimbabwe. *African Zoology* 55(3), 187–200.

- VOYSEY, M. D., DE BRUYN, P. J. N. & DAVIES, A. B. (2023). Are hippos Africa's most influential megaherbivore? A review of ecosystem engineering by the semi-aquatic common hippopotamus. *Biological Reviews* 98(5), 1509–1529.
- WAGNER, M. A. & REYNOLDS, J. D. (2019). Salmon increase forest bird abundance and diversity. *PLoS One* 14(2), e0210031.
- WALDMAN, J., ALTER, S. E., PETERSON, D., MACEDA, L., ROY, N. & WIRGIN, I. (2019). Contemporary and historical effective population sizes of Atlantic sturgeon Acipenser oxyrinchus oxyrinchus. Conservation Genetics 20(2), 167–184.
- WALTER, P. & SEN, V. (2018). A geography of ecotourism in Cambodia: regions, patterns, and potentials. Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research 23(3), 297–311.
- WATANABE, Y. Y., BARANOV, E. A. & MIYAZAKI, N. (2020). Ultrahigh foraging rates of Baikal seals make tiny endemic amphipods profitable in Lake Baikal. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences 117(49), 31242–31248.
- WENGER, S. J., SUBALUSKY, A. L. & FREEMAN, M. C. (2019). The missing dead: the lost role of animal remains in nutrient cycling in North American Rivers. *Food Webs* 18, e00106.
- WESTBROOK, C. J., RONNQUIST, A. & BEDARD-HAUGHN, A. (2020). Hydrological functioning of a beaver dam sequence and regional dam persistence during an extreme rainstorm. *Hydrological Processes* **34**(18), 3726–3737.
- WHITAKER, R. (2007). The gharial: going extinct again. Iguana 14(1), 25-32.
- WHITE, S. L., FOX, D. A., BERIDZE, T., BOLDEN, S. K., JOHNSON, R. L., SAVOY, T. F., SCHEELE, F., SCHREIER, A. D. & KAZYAK, D. C. (2023). Decades of global sturgeon conservation efforts are threatened by an expanding captive culture industry. *Fisheries* 48(2), 54–61.
- WILLIAMS, D. A. & OSENTOSKI, M. F. (2007). Genetic considerations for the captive breeding of tortoises and freshwater turtles. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology* 6(2), 302–313.
- WILSON, E. E. & WOLKOVICH, E. M. (2011). Scavenging: how carnivores and carrion structure communities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 26(3), 129–135.
- WINEMILLER, K. O., HUMPHRIES, P. & PUSEY, B. J. (2015). Protecting large apex predators. In *Conservation of Freshwater Fishes* (eds G. P. CLOSS, M. KRKOSEK and J. D. OLDEN), pp. 361–398. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- WINEMILLER, K. O., MCINTYRE, P. B., CASTELLO, L., FLUET-CHOUINARD, E., GIARRIZZO, T., NAM, S., BAIRD, I. G., DARWALL, W., LUJAN, N. K., HARRISON, I., STIASSNY, M. L. J., SILVANO, R. A. M., FITZGERALD, D. B., PELICICE, F. M., AGOSTINHO, A. A., *et al.* (2016). Balancing hydropower and biodiversity in the Amazon, Congo, and McKong. *Science* **35**1(6269), 128–129.
- WITTE, F., MSUKU, B. S., WANINK, J. H., SEEHAUSEN, O., KATUNZI, E. F. B., GOUDSWAARD, P. C. & GOLDSCHMIDT, T. (2000). Recovery of cichlid species in Lake Victoria: an examination of factors leading to differential extinction. *Reviews* in Fish Biology and Fisheries 10(2), 233–241.
- WOHL, E. (2021). Legacy effects of loss of beavers in the continental United States. Environmental Research Letters 16(2), 025010.

- WOOD, K. A., O'HARE, M. T., MCDONALD, C., SEARLE, K. R., DAUNT, F. & STILLMAN, R. A. (2017). Herbivore regulation of plant abundance in aquatic ecosystems. *Biological Reviews* 92(2), 1128–1141.
- WORTHINGTON, T. A., VAN SOESBERGEN, A., BERKHUYSEN, A., BRINK, K., ROYTE, J., THIEME, M., WANNINGEN, H. & DARWALL, W. (2022). Global Swimways for the conservation of migratory freshwater fishes. *Frontiers in Ecology* and the Environment 20(10), 573–580.
- YUAN, Z., HUANG, W., LIU, S., XU, P., DUNHAM, R. & LIU, Z. (2018). Historical demography of common carp estimated from individuals collected from various parts of the world using the pairwise sequentially markovian coalescent approach. *Genetica* 146(2), 235–241.
- ZARFL, C., BERLEKAMP, J., HE, F., JÄHNIG, S. C., DARWALL, W. & TOCKNER, K. (2019). Future large hydropower dams impact global freshwater megafauna. *Scientific Reports* **9**(1), 18531.
- ZHANG, H., JARIĆ, I., ROBERTS, D. L., HE, Y., DU, H., WU, J., WANG, C. & WEI, Q. (2020). Extinction of one of the world's largest freshwater fishes: lessons for conserving the endangered Yangtze fauna. *Science of the Total Environment* **710**, 136242.
- ZHANG, L., WANG, H., GESSNER, J., CONGIU, L., HAXTON, T. J., JEPPESEN, E., SVENNING, J.-C. & XIE, P. (2023). To save sturgeons, we need river channels around hydropower dams. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 120(13), e2217386120.
- ZHANG, X., XIE, P. & HUANG, X. (2008). A review of nontraditional biomanipulation. The Scientific World Journal 8, 362037.
- ZIV, G., BARAN, E., NAM, S., RODRÍGUEZ-ITURBE, I. & LEVIN, S. A. (2012). Tradingoff fish biodiversity, food security, and hydropower in the Mekong River Basin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109(15), 5609–5614.

XI. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Table S1. List of extant and recently extinct freshwater megafauna species.

Table S2. Definitions and examples of different levels of megafauna impacts on ecological processes and nature's contributions to people.

Appendix S1. Sources and licences for the images used in Figs 2 and 4.

(Received 19 April 2023; revised 31 January 2024; accepted 2 February 2024; published online 27 February 2024)